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As the pan-European economy continues to be affected 
by the global recession, it is more critical than ever to 
communicate effectively with our stakeholders. In line with 
our commitments for dialogue with unitholders, our 2009 
Annual Report is our most accessible to date, providing three 
levels of communication for a wide range of investors.
ProLogis European Properties explained in...
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ProLogis European Properties (PEPR)  
is one of the largest pan-European owners 
of high quality distribution and logistics 
facilities. Its portfolio comprises 232 
modern facilities covering 4.9 million 
square metres across 11 countries.  
PEPR was established in 1999 as a 
closed-end, real estate investment fund, 
externally managed by a subsidiary of 
ProLogis (NYSE: PLD), a leading global 
provider of industrial distribution facilities. 
ProLogis European Properties is listed  
on Euronext Amsterdam and the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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“With a stable and resilient asset 
base, a diversified customer base 
and a stronger balance sheet, PEPR 
is well positioned to benefit as 
European economies set themselves 
on the road to recovery and investor 
confidence returns.”

Geoffrey Bell Chairman

Financial highlights
Total revenue €265.8m
EPRA earnings for ordinary unitholders €103.5m
Distributable cash flow for ordinary unitholders €104.2m
Portfolio value  €2,839.2m
EPRA net asset value for ordinary unitholders €1,232.9m

Operational highlights
88 leasing transactions, totalling 974,300m2

76% customer retention rate

Fast facts
232 distribution facilities

96.1% occupancy

4.9 million m2 

11 countries

5.3 years average lease expiry

3.2 years average to lease break
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Summary
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“Looking forward, we believe that a strengthened 
balance sheet, well-maintained assets and the 
further development of customer relationships 
will ensure continued high levels of occupancy 
and rental streams, generating the predictable 
cash flows needed to deliver high quality returns 
to our unitholders.”

Peter Cassells Chief Executive Officer

Delivering our strategy

 
...3 

minutes

Business Strategy
PEPR’s business philosophy is to continue to be 
a leader in the pan-European distribution facilities 
sector. To achieve this, PEPR actively manages its 
modern portfolio by owning and managing assets 
in strategic locations, delivering excellent customer 
service and concentrating on proactive leasing.

Investment strategy
PEPR’s investment objective is to continue to 
generate capital appreciation and a high level of 
distributable current income for its unitholders 
through active management of its distribution 
facilities.

PEPR aims to structure its investments in a tax-
efficient manner, whilst using efficient financing to 
optimise the net yield from its portfolio and to deliver 
stable returns to its unitholders.

Financial Strategy
PEPR will continue to de-leverage the balance 
sheet, keeping sufficient headroom on our financial 
covenants and to actively manage our debt maturity 
profile. We will seek a return to an investment grade 
rating and to position PEPR to return to paying 
ordinary dividends when prudent to do so.
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Knowing our marketplace

Southern Europe
2.4 million m2

47% of portfolio by value

98.6% occupancy

9.2% initial yield

Southern Europe is a core logistics market, with Europe’s primary north-
south distribution corridor running through France, connecting the Northern 
European ports and population centres with those in Southern Europe. 
This region is the largest part of PEPR’s portfolio, accounting for 46.6% of 
annualised rental income by the end of 2009.

France’s central position makes it an essential location to include in any 
pan-European distribution/logistics strategy. It is also one of the largest and 
most mature markets in continental Europe, with an efficiently managed 
planning system. Locations such as Paris and Lyon operate on a regional, 
national and international distribution basis.

Spain’s logistics warehouse sector has developed around the country’s two 
major population centres, Madrid and Barcelona. Since joining the EU in 
1986, Spain has benefited from high levels of EU subsidies and foreign 
direct investment that contributed to extensive motorway construction and 
property development over the past two decades.

Mirroring the nation’s wealth gap, Italy’s logistics industry is split along  
a north-south divide, and the two halves play entirely different strategic 
roles. In southern Italy, the logistics industries and property markets  
focus principally on domestic requirements. In contrast, those in the  
north – particularly around Milan – are part of the pan-European logistics 
network and therefore, have a cross-border function in addition to serving 
the country’s second largest population.

Northern Europe
0.9 million m2

19% of portfolio by value

94.5% occupancy

9.2% initial yield

Northern Europe has a well-established logistics market thanks to its 
concentration of population and established international ports, combined 
with its excellent and extensive infrastructure. PEPR has owned distribution 
facilities in Northern Europe since its inception in 1999 and by the end of 
2009 it represented 21.0% of annualised rental income.

Centrally located within the expanded EU, Germany has become the 
enlarged Europe’s new east-west gateway. Central and Eastern Europe’s 
general dearth of adequate infrastructure has made it dependent on 
German motorways and the port of Hamburg (Europe’s second largest port) 
to export goods manufactured in the region to the west. In fact, most Central 
and Eastern European goods destined for Western Europe are transported 
by truck through Germany to avoid crossing the Alps via Austria.

The Netherlands, and more specifically the Randstad region, has established 
itself as a prime location for pan-European distribution. Centrally located 
in Europe, its high quality multi-modal transportation system facilitates 
the movement of goods along Europe’s motorway, waterway and railway 
networks. Rotterdam is the largest seaport in Europe (ninth largest in the 
world) and Amsterdam’s Schiphol airport is Europe’s fourth largest cargo 
airport. Together, these have made the Randstad region one of Europe’s 
main distribution hubs.

The focal point of Belgium’s logistics warehouse sector is its seaports, 
Antwerp and Ghent, where goods travel in and out of Western Europe. 
Brussels, the biggest urban centre in Belgium, is also a magnet for retail-
based distribution facilities. Transport infrastructure in Belgium is among  
the best in Europe.

The Swedish distribution warehouse sector serves both the local population 
and the Baltic Sea Region (Western Russia, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and 
Poland). As a regional distribution hub, Sweden is evolving as a gateway 
between Western Europe and the emerging Eastern European and  
Russian markets.

Properties

France 61

Italy  18

Spain  13

Properties

Belgium 5

Germany 20

The Netherlands 20

Sweden 4
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PEPR invests in top-quality, modern, distribution facilities strategically located 
across Europe. As at 31 December 2009, PEPR’s portfolio comprised 232 
buildings, covering 4.9 million square metres in 11 European countries, with a net 
market value of €2.8 billion.

Central Europe
0.9 million m2

15% of portfolio by value

88.5% occupancy

8.8% initial yield

The expansion of the EU has opened up Central Europe, both as a 
manufacturing hub and as a consumer market. Continuing economic 
growth, increasing prosperity, and integration into the EU has resulted in 
growing volumes of truck traffic and freight entering, exiting, and traversing 
the region, as well as between Central Europe and the rest of the world. 
PEPR entered the Central European market in 2002 and has grown this part 
of the business to 14.8% of annualised rental income by the end of 2009.

Poland is the largest economy in the Central European region and has the 
potential to expand its influence and role as a Member State of the EU. 
Its industrial capacity has attracted significant delocalisation from other 
European countries, while its young and growing population is developing 
as a consumer market, which means that both ends of the supply chain are 
expanding. After Germany, the next largest recipients of Poland’s exports 
are other Euro-zone countries, although Poland’s cross-border distribution 
capabilities will remain limited until its motorway system is developed 
further. The European Commission is supporting alternative modes of  
freight transport to address persistent road transport problems, yet the 
overriding preferred mode of transport for the logistics industry remains 
roads and highways.

The bulk of modern distribution facilities in the Czech Republic are 
concentrated in the Prague region, which is the country’s only sizeable 
urban centre. Prague is the first stop for trucks crossing the German border 
into the Central and Eastern Europe region and is quickly becoming an 
important regional logistics hub.

Hungary is strategically located between Western Europe, Romania, the 
Balkans and South Eastern Europe. Since EU accession in 2004, the 
Hungarian economy has quickly rebuilt itself through its historical ties 
with Austria and Germany. Road transport is so efficient by comparison to 
the rest of Central and Eastern Europe that Hungary has become a new 
distribution gateway between Austria, Romania and Greece.

UK
0.7 million m2

17% of portfolio by value

98.6% occupancy

9.2% initial yield

The UK’s logistics property markets are renowned as the most transparent, 
most liquid, and most mature in all of Europe. Its island geography means 
that its supply chain networks are focused on regional and national markets, 
as opposed to broader pan-European markets. This was one of the first 
markets PEPR entered in 1999. At the end of 2009, 17.6% of annualised 
rental income was sourced from the UK.

Distribution networks and supply chains with a nationwide reach require 
warehouses located centrally and with ready access to the major north-
south motorways (M1 and M6). The East and West Midlands meet these 
criteria and have emerged as major, highly desirable locations. Additionally, 
the Southeast region offers proximity to London, the largest population 
concentration in the UK.

UK Distribution Facilities are characterised by high income stream stability. 
The quality of these income streams is a result of the UK’s unique lease 
structures – i.e., their longer lease terms, upwards-only rent reviews and 
often fully repairing clauses, whereby at the end of a lease, tenants are 
required to deliver the premises in the same condition as when the lease 
began. Lease terms are typically 10 to 15 years. Contract rents must be 
reviewed every five years with an adjustment to market rents, but the 
adjustments are upward-only.

Properties

Czech Republic 12

Hungary 14

Poland 26

Properties

England 39
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Applying our key strengths
Industry leading pan-European 
platform
PEPR is one of Europe’s largest owners of high 
quality, modern, distribution facilities, exclusively 
focused on the warehouse/logistics sector. At the 
end of 2009, the portfolio included 232 distribution 
facilities, covering 4.9 million square metres across 
11 countries. 

PEPR is externally managed by a subsidiary of 
ProLogis, a leading global provider of industrial 
distribution facilities. This relationship gives PEPR 
access to global customer relationships and  
best-in-class asset management practices.

Stable and resilient asset class
At the end of December 2009, PEPR’s portfolio was 
valued at €2.8 billion. We have no development 
exposure and operate in a sector where the short 
construction cycle limits over-supply and so we 
benefit from less volatility in our occupancy profile 
than in other property sectors.

Diversified customer base
With a blue chip customer base including third 
party logistics companies, major retailers and 
manufacturers, PEPR has a well-balanced spread 
of rental income. The top 20 customers account for 
47.7% of turnover, covering 109 leases.

Industry leading occupancy
Occupancy rates at the end of the year were at an 
industry leading level of 96.1%, close to PEPR’s 
historical 10-year average of an outstanding 96.6%, 
and reflecting the quality and attractiveness of the 
facilities and their strategic locations. Our assets 
provide a critical component of a customer’s supply 
chain and we build strong, long-term relationships 
with those customers. The average age of the portfolio 
is just over eight years and customer satisfaction 
rates are high, with retention rates for 2009 running 
at 76%.
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Focusing on clients and service
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Our top 20 customers

Customer name  Share of annualised  Number  
 rental income of leases

Ceva 7.4% 14

Geodis 5.3% 15

Deutsche Post AG (DHL)  5.3% 18

NYK Holdings (Nippon Yusen Kaisha) 3.9% 9

ND Logistics 2.9% 6

Gefco (PSA Peugeot) 2.6% 6

FM Logistic 2.2% 6

GoodYear/Dunlop 2.0% 2

Fagor Electrodomesticos  

(Brandt Appliances) 1.9% 3

Carrefour 1.8% 2

Intermarche 1.5% 3

DSV A/S 1.5% 5

ID Logistics Group 1.3% 4

Deutsche Bahn (Schenker) 1.2% 4

Eurofred 1.2% 2

Schneider 1.2% 3

Amazon.com Inc 1.2% 1

Kuehne & Nagel 1.2% 3

Depolabo Pharma Logistique  1.1% 2

Sonepar (Elektroskandia) 1.0% 1

PEPR’s customer relationships have been built  
on the basis of its proven track record of customer 
service, expansive platform of modern distribution 
facilities, expertise, reliability, and market knowledge. 
Over half of PEPR’s customers are logistics service 
providers or third party logistics companies and 
a further quarter is covered by a broad range of 
customers are in the retail and manufacturing sectors.





ProLogis European PropertiesAnnual Report & Accounts 2009 11

...30 
minutes

Business Review
“This has been a year of significant progress for 
PEPR. Against the backdrop of recession, tight 
lending markets and downward pressures on rents 
and property valuations, we have emerged fitter 
and stronger, with a healthier balance sheet and a 
considerably enhanced market position.” 

Peter Cassells Chief Executive Officer



A strong performance
We remain firmly focused on the logistics segment of the industrial 
property market where we are one of the largest owners of modern 
distribution facilities across Europe. We have emerged as a strong, 
defensive business with high levels of occupancy and in a real 
estate sector where supply and demand metrics are more in 
balance than in other sectors such as office and retail space.

We continue to be a critical component in our customers’ supply 
chain. Distribution centres in the right locations remain essential 
to maintaining efficient, low-cost logistics operations and delivering 
finished goods and products to the end consumer. Our 76% 
customer retention record in 2009 is testament to the quality of our 
assets, well placed locations and strong customer relationships. 

The reputation of our external manager, ProLogis, a leading 
global manager of international distribution facilities has proved 
extremely beneficial in achieving these high levels of retention and 
occupancy. As such, we are able to draw on ProLogis’ strong global 
customer relationships, local market knowledge and excellence in 
customer service.

Enhancing our corporate governance structure
We are making significant progress towards our objective to 
modernise our corporate governance structure and increase 
investor control and influence. A number of amendments 
will be proposed at the 2010 annual general meeting (AGM). 
These include removing voting restrictions so that each unit 
is entitled to one vote, lowering the ownership threshold to 
propose agenda items for an AGM from 20% to 3%, introducing 
a new right for unitholders with a minimum 10% unitholding 
to propose candidates for independent Board positions and 
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Business Review

Chairman’s overview

In one of the most challenging economic 
environments in recent history, we have 
delivered a resilient performance returning 
PEPR to a firm financial footing whilst 
maintaining consistently high levels of 
occupancy and completing a record year of 
leasing activity.

restricting decision-making regarding related-party transactions to 
independent Board members only.

We continue to monitor the legal situation in Luxembourg in order 
to be prepared to convert our legal structure from an FCP to a 
SICAF should it be considered appropriate at that time. As a SICAF, 
PEPR would have the flexibility to raise new equity at prices below 
net asset value.

Strengthening our Board
In line with our objective to increase the independence of our 
Board, we appointed a new independent Board member in May 
2009. With a long career in global banking and a number of 
non-executive roles under his belt, Didier Cherpitel brings notable 
financial experience to PEPR. 

Other changes at Board level included the retirement of Professor 
Horst Albach in May 2009 and Robert Watson in January 2010. 
Professor Albach was our longest-standing Board member and we 
would like to thank him for his wise counsel and experience over 
the last 10 years.

Robert Watson’s departure followed his retirement from ProLogis. 
As former Chief Executive Officer of PEPR and ProLogis President 
in Europe from 2000 to 2004, Robert has been integral to 
PEPR’s success and we would like to thank him for his invaluable 
contribution to the business. ProLogis appointed Gary E Anderson, 
its head of global investment management, as its second Board 
member to replace Robert. We were delighted to welcome Gary to 
the Board, and expect his knowledge of the European market and 
PEPR’s portfolio to enable him to make a significant contribution to 
our strategy going forward.

PEPR’s Board consists of four independent Board members and 
two members appointed by PEPR’s management company. 

Dividends
Under the terms of our €900 million unsecured credit facility, we 
are currently prohibited from making a cash distribution to ordinary 
unitholders. As a result, we will not be paying ordinary dividends 
in 2010 but intend to revert to paying dividends as soon as it is 
prudent to do so and when permitted under the terms of the credit 
facility.
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Logistic property market outlook
After seven consecutive quarters of decline, European property 
values showed some signs of stabilising at the end of 2009. 
According to CB Richard Ellis’ European valuation monitor, 
although values at the end of the year were 9.4% lower than at 
the end of 2008, there was a small increase of 0.4% in the final 
quarter. 

Excluding the UK, values were said to have dropped by around 1% 
in the final quarter – a considerable improvement on the decline in 
value recorded earlier in the year. 

The pan-European economy has begun to recover from the severe 
recession of 2008 and 2009, world trade appears to be staging 
a more robust comeback than many analysts had foreseen and 
investor confidence is returning, albeit tentatively, to Europe’s 
distribution warehouse sector, driven by Western Europe and the 
UK. Looking forward, economic growth is nevertheless expected 
to remain sluggish throughout 2010 and 2011, hampering 
any significant resurgence in demand and any measurable 
improvement in property leasing conditions. With new construction 
slowing to a near stand-still the stage is set for a slow recovery in 
the pan-European logistics property markets over the next couple 
of years. 

Whilst we expect occupancy to remain relatively stable, rental 
rates are forecast to decline in 2010. Any growth over the next 18 
months and beyond will be driven by occupier requirements for 
modernisation, supply chain rationalisation and efficiency. 

With a stable and resilient asset base, a diversified customer base 
and a stronger balance sheet, PEPR is well positioned to benefit as 
European economies set themselves on the road to recovery and 
investor confidence returns.

Geoffrey Bell
Chairman

EPRA earnings1 (€ million)

05 06 07 08 09

103.5

127.7

151.1

136.9

109.3

103.5

Portfolio occupancy (%)

05 06 07 08 09

96.197.397.396.997.396.1

EPRA net asset value2 (€ million)

05 06 07 08 09

1,172

1,528

2,4102,435

1,703

1,172

Financial highlights

1 IFRS post-tax earnings/loss for ordinary unitholders adjusted in accordance 
with European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) “Best Practice Policy 
Recommendations”, issued in July 2009.

2 IFRS net asset value for ordinary unitholders adjusted in accordance with EPRA 
“Best Practice Policy Recommendations”, issued in July 2009. 
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Business Review

Chief executive officer’s review

We executed eight debt transactions over the last nine months, 
disposed of 14 properties and raised €61 million of new equity, 
significantly addressing our 2009 and 2010 debt maturities.

Leasing activity reached record levels and despite tough conditions 
in European real estate markets we completed close to 950,000 
square metres of leasing transactions. We retained our market 
leading position as owner of the largest, most geographically diverse 
portfolio of logistics and distribution facilities in Europe, reporting an 
impressive occupancy level of 96.1% at the end of the year.

Key achievements
The success achieved in hitting our key financial milestones 
reflects the confidence of lenders in our business model and the 
quality and defensive nature of our asset class. We began the 
year with €1.3 billion of debt due in 2009 and 2010. Today all of 
this has been repaid or rescheduled. Along the way, we raised 
€672 million of new debt and extended the term of a €126 million 
loan, leaving us with almost three years to our next debt maturity 
in December 2012. The new debt was made up of seven loan 
agreements, taking a disproportionate share of all new commercial 
real estate transactions in an extremely tight, conservative credit 
market.

This clearly demonstrates our track record in sourcing debt from new 
and existing lenders and it includes one of the largest pan-European 
syndicated real estate loans since the beginning of the financial crisis. 
We raised €300 million, secured on properties in four jurisdictions, 
from six European lenders arranged by Goldman Sachs.

Other activities to preserve capital and de-leverage the balance 
sheet included suspending dividend payments, disposing of our 

investment in ProLogis European Properties Fund II (PEPF II), 
asset sales and raising preferred equity.

The suspension of dividend payments allowed the distributable 
cash flow for 2009, of €0.55 per unit, or €104.2 million to be 
retained in the business to reduce debt and improve liquidity.

In December 2008 and February 2009 we sold the final share of 
our investment in PEPF II eliminating the requirement to invest 
a further €522 million and generated net proceeds of €54.2 
million. Two successful portfolio disposals raised approximately 
€189 million, at prices close to their market valuations at the time 
and combined with €61 million of gross capital raised through a 
preferred equity offer, this contributed to a significant reduction in 
our debt by the end of 2009.

The process continues into 2010, in March and April we prepaid 
the outstanding €74 million of Commercial Mortgage Backed 
Security (CMBS) debt, increasing the size of our unencumbered 
asset pool by up to €200 million to around €1.3 billion or 44% of the 
total portfolio.

Our operational achievements have been equally impressive. 
In one of the toughest markets in recent history, we reported 
industry leading occupancy rates at the end of 2009 of over 96%, 
close to our 10-year historical average. Combined with leasing a 
record 950,000 square metres of distribution space, this is a clear 
demonstration of the strength of our operational platform.

Strategy
Our strategy is to grow the underlying business value through 
active asset management, continually enhancing the quality of 
our portfolio and maintaining high levels of occupancy. A clear 
objective is to maintain our track record of attracting blue chip 
customers, leasing first class assets over extended periods. 

With an average age of just over eight years, our portfolio is 
considered very young and, therefore, attractive to occupiers 
looking to modernise and rationalise their supply chains. 

Looking forward to 2010
We are now well capitalised, with loan to values of 55%, a 
manageable debt maturity profile and on a firm footing for the 
future. We have also created adequate headroom under our 
financial covenants. 

This has been a year of significant progress 
for PEPR. Against the backdrop of 
recession, tight lending markets and 
downward pressures on rents and property 
valuations, we have emerged fitter with a 
healthier balance sheet and a considerably 
enhanced market position. 
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A key financial objective is to seek a return to an investment grade 
rating at the earliest possible date. This will provide us with the added 
flexibility to return to the unsecured debt market to address our 2012 
and 2014 debt maturities. We also retain the option to issue a further 
tranche of preferred equity should it be necessary to do so.

Our successful track record in leasing, especially in 2009 as 
markets deteriorated, combined with positive forecasts of a return 
to GDP growth across Europe in the near future, puts us in a 
good position to address the challenge of leasing the quantity of 
space which is currently vacant or is subject to lease break or 
maturity in 2010. The suspension of development in our sector in 
2009, including speculative projects, has reduced the supply of 
competing space and, together with customers generally seeking 
to avoid unwanted relocation costs, occupancy rates are likely to 
remain relatively stable.

As market sentiment improves, yields are stabilising across Europe, 
with evidence of a strong turnaround in the UK in particular, 
which appears to be driven by increased investment demand 
from institutions, retail funds and overseas investors. The volume 
of investment transactions has risen steadily throughout 2009 
and this trend has continued into early 2010. There is growing 
evidence that more investors are returning to the market for both 
prime and mid-range, quality properties, although demand remains 
concentrated in the traditional core markets of Western Europe.

However, the European recovery is at an early stage with rents still 
under pressure as occupiers continue to focus on reducing their 
cost base. We anticipate that it will take at least a year for excess 
supply in some markets to be absorbed and so we remain cautious 
over net occupier demand and short-term rental rates. 

With the benefit of the ProLogis brand worldwide, we can offer 
customers, and potential occupiers, a unique combination of local 
support backed up with global opportunities. Looking forward, we 
believe that a strengthened balance sheet, well-maintained assets 
and the further development of customer relationships will ensure 
continued high levels of occupancy and rental streams, generating 
the predictable cash flows needed to deliver high quality returns to 
our unitholders.

Peter Cassells
Chief Executive Officer

Lease break and maturity dates as at 31 December 2009
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Business Review

Operations
PEPR is one of Europe’s largest owners of high quality distribution 
facilities, exclusively focused on the logistics sector. At the end of 
2009, the PEPR portfolio comprised 232 buildings, covering 4.9 
million square metres in 11 European countries, with a portfolio 
valuation of €2.8 billion. The portfolio has an attractive risk profile 
with a diversified customer base and industry-leading levels of 
occupancy and customer retention.

Our operational performance
2009 has been an exceptionally active year for PEPR. We 
concluded a record number of leasing transactions, maintaining 
high levels of occupancy and achieving excellent customer 
retention rates.

Leasing
We undertook more leasing and re-leasing than ever before within 
the portfolio, leasing almost 950,000 square metres of space 
during the year – up an impressive 40% on 2008. 88 contracts 
were signed with blue chip organisations, including 19 new deals 
covering 177,000 square metres.

This is testament to the quality of our buildings and our active asset 
management. We have well-established client relationships which 
have stood us in good stead during the difficult markets of the last 
two years. 18 of our top 20 customers have multiple leases and 
they include leading third party logistics companies such as Ceva 
and Deutsche Post, as well as retailers such as Intermarche and 
Amazon.com. In total, our top 20 customers account for 47.7% of 
annualised rental income.

We have made a promising start to 2010 winning two new 
customers in the first quarter. A new five-year lease signed with GE 
Energy Europe reinforces our position in the Dutch market and we 
secured a 12-year lease agreement with Spanish logistics company 
Grupo Carreras for just under 50,000 square metres in Catalonia, 
Spain.

This broad customer base means that the impact of customer 
defaults tend to be minimal. Four customers, leasing 52,500 
square metres defaulted in 2009 – out of a total of 208 customers 
– significantly fewer than anticipated in our budget for the year. 
Although this is encouraging, we continue to monitor customer 
performance closely. We are firmly focused on managing our 
overdue accounts receivables from customers and have succeeded 
in reducing these significantly during the year. Overdue accounts 
receivable at the end of 2009 were €2.3 million, down from €3.3 
million at 31 December 2008.

Delivering 96.1% occupancy against the backdrop of the biggest 
and most synchronised recession across Europe is a significant 
achievement. These are industry leading occupancy rates and in 
line with our historical average of 96.6%. 

This was achieved without a major impact on annualised rent per 
square metre which declined by 1.2% on a like-for-like basis, with 
indexation on current leases offsetting rent reductions on new 
leases.

Excellent customer retention rates of 76% were achieved during 
the year: of the 76 lease breaks and expiries during 2009, 54 
were retained, representing 496,900 square metres from a total 
of 655,900 square metres. Whilst this high retention rate has 
continued into early 2010, looking further forward, we expect 
retention rates to return to more normal levels of 60–65% as the 
economic turmoil eases and the market recovers.

Portfolio
During the first half of 2009, we sold nine non-core assets to 
Curzon Capital Partners II, managed by AEW Europe, for net 
proceeds of €114.5 million. The portfolio included some 229,000 
square metres of fully-leased distribution space at four locations in 
Germany and three locations in The Netherlands.

In addition, five distribution facilities in the UK, covering 79,700 
square metres, were sold to an affiliate of Harbert European Real 
Estate Fund II, L.P. and Harbert European Real Estate Fund II 
(Parallel), L.P, generating net proceeds of £63.1 million.

The sale of both these portfolios had a €9.2 million impact on 
rental income for the remainder of the year, representing some €16 
million on an annualised basis.

The overall net market value of our portfolio at the end of 2009 of 
€2.8 billion was down by 17.5% (2008: €3.4 billion). Quarter four 
2009 valuations were broadly flat, when compared with the values at 
the end of September 2009, resulting in the first evidence of stability 
in the market since the end of 2007. These results suggest that the 
second half of 2009 was the turning point in the current cycle. 

This additional point of reference at the end of September 2009, 
highlighted a distinct slowdown in value declines for continental 
European markets, combined with a strong recovery in the UK in 
the fourth quarter. 

Over the 12 months, the total market value per square metre of 
the portfolio fell by 13.4% on average, on a like-for-like basis. 
Continental European countries recorded valuation decreases of 
between 12.3% and 18.9% and one of our key markets – the UK – 

Total revenue (€ million)
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A stable and resilient asset class

With an industrial property 
platform comprising 232 
modern facilities in some of 
the most strategic locations 
across Europe, PEPR is one 
of Europe’s leading owners of 
modern distribution facilities. 
Focused 100% on the 
industrial property sector with 
no development exposure, 
PEPR’s portfolio provides a 
high quality, defensive asset 
class. 

The properties are highly 
versatile, with low capital 
expenditure requirements and 
turnover costs. The average 
age of the portfolio is currently 
8.2 years and PEPR’s 
industry-leading features and 
design technologies include 
high clear heights, a large 
number of docking bays, 
flat and superflat floors, high 
dock-door ratios, ample room 
for manoeuvring lorries in the 
extensive truck courts, and 
large trailer storage areas.

Situated in strategic locations, 
with good transport links, 
occupancy is less volatile than 
retail or office property; for 
example PEPR has properties 
in five of the top 10 container 
ports in Europe. Retention 

rates are high, averaging 
between 60–65% and 
reaching 76% in 2009, due to 
the quality of the assets and 
local management expertise 
delivered by our external 
manager ProLogis.

Short construction cycles 
tend to limit over supply and, 
given limited speculative 
development over the last two 
years, any increase in demand 
is likely to absorb existing 
market vacancy. 

Our facilities form a critical 
part of our customers’ supply 
chain, enabling them to 
improve their distribution 
operations and take advantage 
of the opening of European 
borders to set up regional or 
pan-European distribution 
networks.

We have over 370 leases with 
208 customers, including 
third party logistics providers 
and some of the largest 
users of distribution space in 
Europe, providing a strong 
and diversified customer 
base, a stable portfolio and 
underpinning the attractive 
risk profile of the business.

showed signs of improvement recovering 5.5% in the second half, 
ending the year down 5.2%.

Reflecting these valuation declines, the gross yield1 of the portfolio 
at 31 December 2009 increased to 9.1% in 2009 (8.7% net yield2) 
from 8.8% (8.3% net yield) at 31 December 2008.

Investment activity in the logistics market was subdued, with 
investment transactions falling to around €6 billion in 2009 from 
€12 billion the previous year. However, the volume of transactions 
increased steadily throughout the year from the low point in the first 
quarter. With some moderate improvement in the availability of bank 
financing, there is growing evidence that more investors are returning 
to the market for both prime and mid-range properties, though 
demand remains concentrated in the traditional core markets. 

The UK has led the way in this capital market recovery, 
with Western Europe stabilising and we are already seeing 
improvements in the prime end of these markets. Towards the 
end of 2009 we also saw the first investment activity taking 
place in Central Europe, signalling what may be the beginning of 
stabilisation of yields in those markets.

New speculative development starts have ground to a halt across 
all markets, helping to support occupancy rates. When occupier 
demand returns, we could see a number of markets moving into 
a situation of under supply relatively quickly. Net effective rents, 
however, remain under downward pressure. Looking ahead, 
although the majority of the European economies are forecast to 
recover over the next 12 months, we do not see demand for new 
space rising. Following the inertia of 2009, companies who need to 
rationalise their supply chains will seek to move into more modern, 
better equipped facilities but we do not expect to see any net new 
demand in the occupier markets until late 2010. 

Our markets
UK
The value of our portfolio in the UK rose sharply by 5.5% to £439.2 
million at the end of 2009, driven by improving market sentiment 
and the return of strong demand from institutions. The weakening 
of the sterling exchange rate during the second half of 2009 
impacted these improved valuations, with the total value in Euros 
of the UK portfolio increasing only 0.3%, to €493.5 million from 
€492.0 million at end June 2009.

Northern Europe
The decline in value of our Northern European portfolio slowed 
during the final quarter of 2009, reflecting the continued, small, 
upwards shift in yields and the slight increase in portfolio vacancy 
during the second half of the year.

While overall take-up in the German market remained relatively 
strong, down less than 10% on the previous year at around 3¼ 

1 Annualised rental income expressed as a percentage of net open market value i.e. 
after deduction of purchasers’ costs.

2 Annualised rental income expressed as a percentage of gross open market value i.e. 
before deduction of purchasers’ costs.
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million square metres, nearly 50% of this was accounted for by 
owner occupiers. As a result, the leasing market was down by 
around 35% compared to 2008. Although market rents decreased 
by around 6% over the year, rents for build-to-suit projects are now 
increasing given the scarcity of developments.

A fall in demand in 2009 resulted in pockets of oversupply in some 
markets in The Netherlands, but increased confidence about near-
term economic conditions and the relatively low levels of current 
unemployment in the Northern European countries means that 
these markets are expected to show resilience and any sustained 
increase in demand could quickly absorb the vacant space.

Southern Europe
Our Southern European assets showed a similar movement, with 
the fall in valuations slowing in the final quarter of the year as a 
result of lower market rental values during that period.

France saw demand fall by 15% to around 1.3 million square 
metres, although there was a modest increase in leasing activity in 
the last quarter. Along with many European economies, France’s 
economic performance in 2009 was the weakest in recent 
history. By the year-end industrial output was increasing again 
at the highest rate in 10 years and we are beginning to see an 
improvement in customer confidence and a reduction in shadow, 
or unused, space in our buildings. Prime investment yields moved 
above 8% as transaction activity dropped significantly in the first 
part of the year, but showed some evidence of recovery by the  
year end. 

Italy had a year of two halves, with no deals at all in the logistics 
sector during the first six months, but transactions later in the year 
bringing investment volumes up to 50% of 2008 levels, albeit at a 
low amount of €200 million. The leasing market remains relatively 
soft, with pockets of vacancy in some locations.

Spain has seen some of the biggest rental declines over the year, 
with a fall of around 20% in some locations around Madrid,  
where there are a significant number of vacant properties. 
Investment transactions were limited to only €80 million during 
2009, a reflection of the country’s well-documented economic  
and financial difficulties.

Central Europe
The Central European markets have suffered the most during 
2009. Take-up across the region was down by a third to around 1 
million square metres, with market rents falling by 15-20% in some 
areas. Poland still suffers from oversupply in a number of markets, 
and investment activity across the entire region fell to only €175 
million, almost all of which was in three fairly atypical large sale and 
leaseback deals.

Unsurprisingly, our Central European assets suffered the largest 
valuation decline within the portfolio, falling 7.5% in the third 
quarter and an additional 2.3% to the end of the year.

Our financial performance
In the midst of the worst global economic recession and 
challenging capital markets, we have completed a number of 
refinancing and deleveraging initiatives which have returned 
PEPR to a firm financial footing, with a stronger balance sheet and 
high quality asset base. At the same time, we maintained strong 
operational performance and attracted a disproportionately large 
share of property lending, reflecting our track record and defensive 
nature of our assets.

Results overview
We reduced our losses in 2009, reporting an IFRS loss of €311 
million for 2009, compared with a loss of €578 million for 2008. 
The main reasons for the improvement in 2009 are the €282 
million of losses associated with our investment and disposal 
of PEPF II recorded in 2008 and a slowdown in portfolio value 
declines in 2009.

Offsetting these improvements are a series of non-recurring 2009 
charges including the €43 million loss on property disposals, €10 
million of early interest rate swap termination fees related to the 
CMBS repayments and the write-off of €3 million of professional 
fees associated with the proposed SICAF conversion.

EPRA earnings for the year, which seeks to provide a better 
indicator of underlying performance, decreased by 19% to 
€104 million from €128 million in 2008. The main drivers of the 
decrease are an overall €27 million decrease in rental income and 
the €10 million CMBS swap termination costs. In addition 2008 
results included €16 million of dividends from PEPF II. These 
reductions were partially offset by €4 million of lower operational 
expenses and €8 million of lower finance costs.

Reconciliations between IFRS and EPRA figures are on page 38.

Distributable cash flow for ordinary unitholders (€ million)
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Harnessing solar energy to add value

Focused initially on our 
Spanish assets, an extensive 
programme is under-way to 
harness solar energy across 
our portfolio. The roofing on 
eight of PEPR’s buildings 
is being replaced with solar 
membranes to generate 
power to be channelled into 
the national electricity grid. 
These buildings, in addition 
to the existing solar facility in 
Penedes, will provide PEPR 
with over 200,000 square 
metres of leased assets in 
Spain equipped to generate 
solar power by the end of 
2010. Properties in France, 
Germany and the Czech 
Republic are currently being 
assessed to see if the new 
panels can be retro-fitted.

The current project in Spain 
is a 4.8 megawatt (MW) solar 
installation located in ProLogis 
Park Sant Boi, Barcelona and 
ProLogis Park Alcalà, Madrid. 
This follows the successful 
installation in 2005 of ProLogis’ 
first solar panels on ProLogis 
European Properties Fund II 
owned buildings in France. 
It brings ProLogis’ total solar 
power generation potential to 
11 MW across 20 buildings 
covering 669,000 square metres 
of roof space globally. This is 

enough energy to power more 
than 1,100 homes per year.

PEPR’s properties make ideal 
locations for large-scale solar 
projects. Rooftops provide 
large, flat, unobstructed 
surfaces which are less costly 
than land acquisition. There 
are no planning permission 
issues and sites are available 
for long-term use. Long-term 
rental agreements have 
been put in place for use of 
PEPR’s roof space to host 
the equipment, generating 
additional income for PEPR. 
In addition, the membrane 
technology effectively provides 
a new guarantee to the roof, 
prolonging its useful life and 
reducing future expenditure.

Other initiatives include 
installing energy-saving lighting 
systems – the biggest source 
of energy consumption in 
warehouses – and testing 
buildings to assess heat loss. 
These initiatives are part of 
the ProLogis ‘Green Buildings’ 
agenda by which PEPR’s 
assets are naturally covered. 
This adds value to PEPR’s 
portfolio and is attractive to 
customers looking to improve 
their carbon footprint. 
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Revenue and operating expenses
Our rental income in 2009 fell by 9.4% to €265.8 million, (2008: 
€293.3 million), reflecting the loss of €9.2 million of rental income 
from the 14 properties sold this year and a €7 million shortfall from 
UK sourced income when measured in Euros. Lower rental levels 
and a modest decline in occupancy also had a marginal impact. 
The 2008 numbers benefited from a €9 million non-recurring 
adjustment relating to rental income originally agreed when the 
properties were acquired but ultimately only settled that year. 

Our total property related expenses fell by 18% to €26.4 million 
(2008: €32.4 million) for the year, primarily due to savings of over 
€3.5 million in property management fees as a direct result of the 
reduction in portfolio value since last year and lower levels of bad 
debt expenses in 2009, down to €1.3 million (2008: €3.2 million)

Fund expenses increased by €2 million to €14 million, primarily 
due to the write-off of €3 million of costs associated with the 
proposed legal structure conversion. These were partially offset by 
a €1 million decrease in fund management fees paid to ProLogis 
as these are again directly correlated to portfolio value. In addition, 
2008 included a €1 million non-reclaimable VAT expense, so in net 
terms expenses were up €1 million year-on-year. Property and fund 
related expenses as a whole should remain relatively flat in 2010 
given the increasing stability in property values.

Profit/(loss) on disposal of investment properties
We have recorded a €42.7 million accounting loss on the sale of 
the two property portfolios sold in the first half of this year. The first, 
in which nine Dutch and German assets were sold to AEW Europe 
and the second, the disposal of five UK assets to Harbert European 
Real Estate Fund II, L.P.

Deleveraging initiatives
In December 2008, we outlined a series of initiatives to improve 
liquidity and address upcoming debt maturities.

The plan included the suspension of dividends and the use of asset 
sales proceeds to reduce outstanding debt, the raising of new debt 
to substantially refinance the 2010 CMBS maturities and a maturity 
extension for a portion or all of the 2010 tranches of the €900 
million unsecured credit facility.

Since then, we have completed and received proceeds on eight 
new or extended loan agreements totalling €807.7 million. 
€554.8 million of this came from new lenders demonstrating their 
confidence in our business model and in the industrial real estate 
sector as an attractive asset class.
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The new loan agreements comprise €366.8 million completed and 
funded during 2009 from:

A three-year extension, to March 2013, for €126.0 million •	
of the €151.1 million secured bank loan with Deutsche 
Pfandbriefbank AG that was originally due to mature in March 
2010. The loan is secured by Central European distribution 
facilities.
A new £86.1 million (€100.0 million) four-year secured bank •	
loan with Eurohypo AG, secured by UK distribution facilities.
A new five-year secured bank loan for approximately €48.0 •	
million, split into two tranches, with Helaba (Landesbank 
Hessen-Thüringen). The first tranche is for SEK 332.5 million 
(approximately €32.5 million) and the second for €15.5 million. 
The facility is secured by distribution facilities in Sweden, 
the first time we have used our Swedish assets for specific 
financing.
A new €45.3 million three-year secured bank loan with Helaba, •	
secured by Dutch assets.
A new £43.0 million (approximately €47.5 million), three and •	
a quarter year, secured bank loan with Crédit Agricole CIB, 
formerly Calyon. The loan is secured by UK assets.

Since the year end we have completed further transactions to the 
value of €440.9 million including:

A €300 million pan-European syndicated loan with six European •	
lenders with Goldman Sachs as sole arranger. The syndicate 
includes Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG (as Facility and Security 
Agent), AXA, BAWAG P.S.K., Credit Foncier de France, M&G 
Investments and ING Real Estate Finance. The loan is secured 
by a portfolio of 39 properties located in four countries and will 
mature in January 2014.
A €74.5 million loan, of which €66.9 million has been •	
received and a further €7.6 million committed, with Deutsche 
Pfandbriefbank AG. The €66.9 million tranche is secured by 
a portfolio of nine French and UK assets and will mature in 
December 2013.
A €74.0 million four-year secured loan, split into two tranches, •	
with Berlin Hyp. The first tranche of €48.3 million was received 
in December 2009 with the remainder received in January. The 
loan is secured by a portfolio of 17 German and Polish assets 
and will mature in January 2014.

Since the year-end we have reduced the principal of the €300 
million revolving portion of the €900 million unsecured credit 
facility by €200 million to €100 million, saving €0.8 million in 
undrawn facility fees for the remainder of 2009. This reduction was 
effective from 12 February 2010.

In the first half of the year we successfully sold two portfolios at 
close to their net asset values at the time, generating net proceeds 
of €189.1 million. 

In November 2009, we launched a €61.1 million equity offer in 
the form of fully underwritten perpetual convertible preferred units 
(“Preferred Units”). The Preferred Units were offered at €5.93 
per unit, equal to the net asset value per ordinary unit as at 30 
September 2009. The Preferred Units will initially pay an annual 

dividend of 10.5%, payable quarterly, which may be deferred to 
allow for the prudent amortisation of debt. The Preferred Units may 
be converted into PEPR ordinary units at the discretion of holders 
at any time and may be redeemed at the issuer’s discretion after 
seven years or within 24 months if there is a change of legal form 
of PEPR and if certain conditions are met. Automatic conversion 
occurs after seven years if certain conditions are met.

With the proceeds from these activities, we have significantly 
strengthened our balance sheet. After the prepayment of €17.0 
million in February 2010, we also prepaid the remaining €73.6 
million of CMBS debt in March and April 2010. Both actions free 
up €200 million of properties to the unencumbered assets pool, 
which is expected to amount to €1.3 billion, or roughly 44% of the 
total portfolio.
 
With the continued retention of distributable cash flow and the 
options of additional asset sales and a further equity raise, as 
allowed by the Management Regulations, we are well positioned  
for the future.

Fair value property valuation
Total property fair value movements for 2009 resulted in a net loss 
of €445.8 million, comprising €476.3 million of revaluations losses, 
partially offset by €6.9 million of revaluation gains and a €23.6 
million reduction in associated provision for purchasers’ costs. 
Further details on the portfolio valuation movements are provided 
in the Portfolio section on page 26.

Portfolio value (€ million)
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Strength of our customer relationships

Customer relations are of 
paramount importance to 
ProLogis and the ability to 
provide the right distribution 
space in the right location, 
at the right terms is critical. 
As a result of these close 
relationships, we were able 
to identify a potential default 
in one of our buildings, in 
ProLogis Park Sant Boi, Spain, 
early enough to reach a 
favourable agreement with  
the tenant and to provide 
an ideal solution for the 
requirements of another 
customer in the park. 

Towards the end of 2008, 
we had identified that a 
customer could potentially go 
into default. Knowing that our 
park in Sant Boi is the prime 
location in Barcelona where 
demand had remained high, 
we decided to approach the 
customer and agree on an 
early termination of the lease 
in exchange for a penalty.

Immediately after that we 
started marketing the building 
and were able to capitalise on 
the strength of our customer 

relationships to secure a new 
lease with an existing global 
customer. Schneider Electric, 
a global specialist in energy 
management, has been in 
the park since 2002, and we 
had been in close discussion 
with them regarding a new 
project in Valencia. Once 
we knew there would be 
available space in Sant Boi, 
we immediately proposed that 
they relocate their business 
from Valencia to Barcelona, 
providing them a flexible and 
cost-effective solution for their 
supply chain needs.

As a result, we successfully 
managed to satisfy the needs 
of two of our customers. The 
timing was ideal as Schneider 
was able to move into the 
building in May 2009, shortly 
after the previous customer 
had vacated. For PEPR, the 
combined deal means a total 
of 40,800 square metres 
leased until 2020 to one of 
our top global customers. 
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Financing
Our finance income for the year decreased to €2.4 million from 
€5.3 million in 2008, reflecting lower levels of cash on deposits, as 
we repaid debt, and lower interest rates available in 2009. This was 
mitigated by the receipt of a €1.3 million dividend from PEPF II in 
the first quarter of 2009.

Finance Expense
Overall our finance costs for the period were down by 7% to €108 
million (2008: €116 million). These costs comprise interest expense, 
debt amortisation charges and foreign exchange gains/losses.

 Year ended 31 December
 2009 2008

(Unless otherwise stated, amounts  
are expressed in thousands of euros)
Interest expense 96,173 108,321
Amortisation of initial borrowing costs 10,524 6,403
Net foreign currency (gains)/losses 1,092 1,400

 107,789 116,124

Interest expense for the year fell 11.2% compared to 2008, 
primarily related to the repayment of €793.5 million of CMBS 
debt during the year and the low floating interest rate associated 
with the €900 million unsecured credit facility. This was partially 
offset by increased borrowing during 2008 to invest in PEPF II. 
Average interest rates have declined from 5.3% in 2008 to 4.6% in 
2009. In addition, the 2009 charge includes €10.0 million of early 
termination fees on interest rate swaps associated with CMBS debt 
repaid during the year.

Amortisation charges increased by €4.1 million in 2009 as a result 
of €1.1 million of accelerated amortisation related to the early 
retirement of CMBS debt. In addition, we incurred fees relating to 
the €366.8 million of new or extended debt facilities completed 
during the year and the tangible net worth covenant amendments 
in the €900 million unsecured credit facility.
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The weighted average interest rate for 2009 decreased to 4.6% 
compared to 5.3% in 2008, primarily due to the 200-plus basis 
point decrease in European market interest rates during the period. 
At 31 December 2009, 61% of PEPR’s debt was at fixed rates of 
interest, with the remaining floating debt based on EURIBOR or 
LIBOR with margins varying between 215 to 270 basis points on 
the €900 million unsecured credit facility.

We expect the average interest rate for 2010 to rise as a result of the 
175 basis point increase in the €500 million unsecured Eurobond 
coupon. This came into effect on 23 October 2009, following Moody’s 
Investors Service credit rating downgrade in June 2009. In addition, 
our average interest rate will be impacted by the fixed rates achieved 
on new debt facilities and the expectation that a higher proportion our 
debt will be at fixed rates of interest in the future.

An overview of PEPR’s outstanding debt is on page 28.

Debt structure
We utilise a mix of secured and unsecured debt sources to finance 
our capital structure. At the end of 2009, 31% of outstanding debt 
was secured against specific pools of assets with no recourse to the 
security of other debt or assets elsewhere within the business. We 
successfully renegotiated our covenants and now have a sizeable 
€227 million of headroom under our net worth test and equally 
important, we remain compliant with all other covenant tests.

In addition to the covenants in the table on page 23, the €500 
million Eurobond is redeemable at par if there is a change of control 
of PEPR and a subsequent downgrade of our credit rating to Ba1 or 
below within 120 days. On 19 June 2009, PEPR was downgraded 
to a Ba1 rating, with negative outlook, by Moody’s Investors Service. 
In March 2010, Moody’s revised our outlook to stable from negative.

The only financial covenant applicable to CMBS debt is that 
income received from the secured assets must exceed interest 
cost by at least 1.5 times for each quarter. A breach of this ratio 
does not constitute a default but does require cash trapping within 
the breached CMBS pool until the breach is remedied. As at 15 
January 2010, the most recent reporting date, this ratio was 2.9x 
for CMBS III and 3.0x for the CMBS IV.

Our total outstanding debt excluding transaction costs as at 31 
December 2009 was €1,638.9 million, a 21.7% decrease since 
year end 2008 (€2,094.1 million). This was primarily due to the 
early repayment of €944.6 million of CMBS and secured bank debt 
and the repurchase of €4.25 million of the €500 million Eurobond, 
partially offset by €411.8 million of new or extended debt facilities 
and the €73.0 million increase in funds drawn under the €300 
million revolving portion of the unsecured credit facility. At the end 
of 2009, €227.0 million remains undrawn under the facility and we 
ended the year with a €64.5 million cash balance.

Since the year-end, we have continued to pay down debt. In 
January 2010, we repaid all outstanding debt under the 2010 
tranches of the €900 million unsecured credit facility. In addition, 
with effect from 12 February 2010, we have reduced the principal 
under the revolving portion of that facility to €100 million from 
€300 million. As a result we now have access to €100 million of 
undrawn debt facilities. 

Debt maturity profile as at 31 December 2009 (€ million)
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Summary of Financial Debt Covenants

     Limit 31 Dec. 2009 30 Sep. 2009

Unsecured debt:
€900 million unsecured credit facility

Leverage     less than 60% 55% 55%
Fixed charge coverage     a least 1.5x 2.0x 2.1x
Unencumbered interest coverage     a least 1.5x 2.0x 2.0x
Net Worth (excluding Intangible assets)     at least €1.0bn €1.2bn €1.3bn
Unsecured debt as % of unsecured assets     less than 65% 61% 57%

€500 million 2014 Eurobond
Secured debt as % of total assets     less than 40% 17% 21%

Fonds commun de placement structure:
Loan to value (total debt as percentage of gross portfolio value)    less than 60%1  55.0% 55.7%

1 Can be exceeded up to 65% for a maximum of six months.

Tax
We recorded a net tax benefit for the year of €58 million, an 18% increase on the €49 million benefit in 2008. This breaks down into a 
€16.3 million increase in deferred tax benefit which is primarily driven by the portfolio devaluations. This is partially offset by an €7.2 million 
increase in the current income tax charge largely due to a €5.7 million capital gains charge generated by the AEW asset sale.

The current income tax expense of €30.8 million for 2009 represents a €7.2 million increase over last year (2008: €23.6 million). Adjusting 
for this one-off tax expense, the 2009 current income tax expense represents an effective tax rate of 19.9% for the year, using EPRA pre-tax 
earnings as a proxy for taxable income, compared to 15.7% for 2008.

Looking forward we will continue to pursue strategies to manage our tax expense and anticipate a slightly lower tax charge in 2010.

Distributable cash flow and distributions
In December 2008, we suspended future dividend payments as part of the business’ strategic initiatives to improve liquidity and as a 
condition for a debt covenant amendment on our €900 million unsecured credit facility. Under the current terms of that facility, PEPR is 
prohibited from paying an ordinary dividend until either PEPR raises €200 million of aggregate new equity (of which €61.1 million has been 
raised) or the facility is repaid.

Distributable cash flow of €104.2 million, or €0.55 per ordinary unit, for 2009 was therefore retained in the business to reduce debt and 
improve liquidity.

We intend to revert to paying an ordinary dividend as soon as it is prudent to do so and when permitted under the terms of the €900 million 
unsecured credit facility.
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PEPR Management
Management team 

Peter Cassells 
Chief Executive Officer
Mr Cassells became CEO of PEPR in February 2009, having 
been Chief Financial Officer from September 2006. Previously, 
Mr Cassells was first Vice President and Fund Manager of ProLogis 
in Europe with responsibility for managing fund investor relations, 
reporting, treasury and corporate secretarial functions. Prior to 
joining ProLogis in 2000, Mr Cassells previously worked with Elsag 
Bailey Process Automation NV, Price Waterhouse and Anglo-
American plc in a number of finance and treasury positions.
Based: Luxembourg.

David Doyle 
Chief Financial Officer 
David Doyle is chief financial officer (“CFO”) of ProLogis in Europe. 
Before joining ProLogis in July 2009, Mr Doyle was CFO at Colliers 
CRE, a leading UK property professional services firm, where he 
was responsible for all finance, risk management and legal affairs as 
well as partnering with the chief executive to develop and implement 
strategy. Prior to joining Colliers CRE in 2006, Mr Doyle was CFO and 
executive director at Egg plc, the UK’s leading internet bank, with 
accountability for all finance, legal and company secretarial matters. 
From 1996 to 2003, Mr Doyle held various senior financial positions, 
including head of corporate finance, at Prudential plc.
Based: The Netherlands.

Simon Nelson 
Head of Asset Management 
Mr Nelson became Head of Asset Management in July 2008. 
He joined ProLogis in January 2001 with initial responsibility for 
investment acquisitions in Southern Europe. Latterly he has been 
responsible for European acquisitions and disposals, together with 
overseeing the portfolio valuations. Prior to joining ProLogis, he was 
a Partner and Investment Director at DTZ in France, covering all 
aspects of commercial real estate investment. 
Based: The Netherlands.

Clockwise from left
Peter Cassells
David Doyle
Simon Nelson

PEPR is externally managed by its
management company, ProLogis
Management S.à r.l, a wholly owned
subsidiary of ProLogis, a real estate
investment trust listed on the New York
Stock Exchange. The management 
team comprises the PEPR board and 
three officers. 
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Clockwise from left
Geoffrey Bell
Didier Cherpitel
Pierre Rodocanachi
Gary A. Anderson
Ted R. Antenucci
Sylvia Tóth

Board members 

Geoffrey Bell
Mr Bell became Chairman of PEPR in December 2008 and has 
been a member of the PEPR Board since September 2006. Mr Bell 
is an economist, banker, and executive secretary of the Washington 
based Group of Thirty. He is also President of Geoffrey Bell and 
Company, a consulting company which advises a wide range of 
central banks and governments on their international reserve asset 
and liability management programmes. 
Based: UK and USA. 

Didier Cherpitel
Formerly Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Atos Origin, 
an international IT company. Mr Cherpitel has also served as 
Chairman and director of the Red Cross Foundation; as General 
Secretary of the International Federation of Red Cross and Red 
Crescent Societies in Geneva; and as Managing Director of 
Security Capital Group in London. The majority of Mr Cherpitel’s 
professional career has been with J.P. Morgan, a leading global 
financial bank, where he began as a trainee and progressed to 
Managing Director of the French operation.
Based: Switzerland.

Pierre Rodocanachi
A retired Senior Vice President and Director of Booz Allen and 
Hamilton inc., one of the world’s largest management consulting 
firms and currently the Chairman of its advisory board in Paris, 
Mr Rodocanachi is the Managing Partner of Management 
Patrimonial Conseil which advises entrepreneurs and large 
company owners on their asset allocation and investment 
strategies. A former President of the American Chamber of 
Commerce in France and Director of Carrefour, the world number 
two distribution chain, he is currently a member of Vivendi and 
DMC supervisory boards. 
Based: France. 

Sylvia Tóth
President of Tóco USA and Tóco d’Azur and was previously 
chairwoman of Content Beheer and a supervisory director at Aegon 
N.V., Endemol Entertainment, Creyf’s and Vendex KBB N.V.  
Based: The Netherlands. 

Ted R. Antenucci 
Mr Antenucci is ProLogis’ President and Chief Investment Officer. 
Before joining ProLogis in September 2005, Mr Antenucci served 
as President of Catellus Commercial Development Corp., with 
responsibility for all development, construction and acquisition 
activities. Prior to that, Mr Antenucci served as Executive Vice 
President of Catellus Commercial Group. Before joining Catellus in 
1995, Mr Antenucci was Vice President of real estate for Omnitrax, 
one of the largest short line operators in the United States.  
Based: USA. 

Gary A. Anderson
Mr Anderson is ProLogis’ head of global investment management, 
responsible for managing ProLogis’ private funds and raising 
additional capital. From 2006 to 2009, Mr Anderson was president 
of Europe and the Middle East, as well as Chairman of ProLogis’ 
European Operating Committee. From 2003, Mr Anderson was the 
managing director responsible for investments and development 
in ProLogis’ Southwest and Mexico regions. Prior to 2003, 
Mr Anderson was Market Officer for several US areas and Market 
Representative for two Mexican cities.

Before joining ProLogis in 1994, Mr Anderson was a member of the 
Management Development Program at Security Capital Group, Inc. 
Based: USA.
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             Average 
        Gross Gross    number Average 
  Market   % of Annualised  portfolio portfolio  Average  of leases number  
 Number value % of Leasable total rental  yield4 yield5  age of  to next of years 
 of (“MV”)1 total area leasable income2 ERV3 Current 100% Occupancy facilities Number lease to lease 
 facilities €million MV 000m2 area €million €million occupancy occupancy level years of leases break expiry to 

France 61 819.6 29% 1,590.6 32% 75.5 68.6 9.2% 9.4% 98.2% 8.5 75 2.2 5.5
Italy 18 260.1 9% 522.7 11% 25.1 22.3 9.6% 9.6% 100.0% 9.5 19 5.0 5.6
Spain 13 239.7 9% 309.5 6% 20.1 19.4 8.4% 8.5% 98.5% 7.0 22 2.7 3.5

Southern 92 1,319.4 47% 2,422.8 49% 120.7 110.3 9.2% 9.3% 98.6% 8.4 116 2.9 5.2
              
Belgium 5 51.3 1% 98.3 2% 4.4 4.1 8.6% 8.6% 100.0% 5.5 5 3.0 8.9
Germany 20 221.0 8% 328.0 7% 20.2 19.1 9.1% 9.4% 97.7% 5.5 36 2.2 2.9
Netherlands 20 232.4 9% 378.5 8% 22.1 20.6 9.5% 10.8% 88.4% 9.5 31 1.9 4.0
Sweden 4 86.4 3% 130.4 2% 7.6 6.4 8.7% 8.7% 100.0% 14.9 4 7.8 9.1

Northern 49 591.1 21% 935.2 19% 54.3 50.2 9.2% 9.8% 94.5% 8.4 76 2.9 4.7
              
Czech 

Republic 12 92.8 3% 180.4 4% 7.4 7.8 8.0% 9.5% 84.7% 6.8 32 1.9 2.2
Hungary 14 97.7 3% 182.1 4% 8.9 8.0 9.2% 10.3% 87.1% 6.6 33 2.4 4.5
Poland 26 244.7 9% 494.5 10% 22.1 20.8 9.0% 9.9% 90.5% 7.5 76 2.3 2.9

Central 52 435.2 15% 857.0 18% 38.4 36.6 8.8% 9.9% 88.5% 7.0 141 2.3 3.1
              
UK 39 493.5 17% 706.8 14% 45.5 41.4 9.2% 9.3% 98.6% 7.9 38 5.2 8.2
TOTAL 232 2,839.2 100% 4,921.8 100% 258.9 238.5 9.1% 9.5% 96.1% 8.2 371 3.2 5.3

Vacant space (at ERV per m2)     10.1       

       248.6       

              
1  An independent revaluation of the portfolio is conducted every 30 June and 31 December. In accordance with IFRS fair value accounting, valuations are reported net i.e. after 

deduction of purchasers’ costs.
2  Annualised rental income means the estimate of annual income based on the gross rental income for leases in place as at the latest valuation date based on rates effective at that 

date and on the assumption that rental income from such leases will continue to be received for the whole of the financial year. It does not take into account lease terminations, 
renewals, replacement of customers or other changes in rent levels in existing leases.

3 ERV refers to the Estimated Rental Value calculated by the independent third-party appraisers as at the latest valuation date.
4 Annualised rental income on occupied portfolio expressed as a percentage of market value.
5 Annualised rental income on occupied portfolio plus ERV on vacant space expressed as a percentage of market value.

Portfolio overview
As at 31 December 2009
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  Leased  
  space Annualised   Leased   
 Number of subject to rental income  Number of space Annualised  
 leases with next break of leases subject  leases with subject to rental income of 
 next break option6 to first break option  expiry date lease expiry expiring leases
 option in year 000m2 (€m) % in year7 000m2 (€m) %

2009 19 192 10.3 4.0 17 165 8.8 3.4
2010 92 991 56.1 21.7 65 561 33.7 13.0
2011 91 959 47.8 18.5 60 441 22.5 8.7
2012 60 799 43.3 16.7 47 384 23.1 8.9
2013 34 415 22.9 8.8 37 444 26.1 10.1
2014 27 393 22.7 8.8 30 508 26.1 10.1
2015 15 363 20.7 8.0 26 589 28.7 11.1
2016 8 155 9.5 3.7 18 418 21.0 8.1
2017 8 233 14.3 5.5 20 386 21.8 8.4
2018 4 44 1.8 0.7 11 152 7.7 3.0
2019+ 13 184 9.5 3.6 40 680 39.4 15.2

Total 371 4,728 258.9 100.0 371 4,728 258.9 100.0

       Share of 
       annualised 
       rental Number of 
Customer Name8      Industry Type income leases

1 Ceva  3PL 7.4% 14
2 Geodis  3PL 5.3% 15
3 Deutsche Post AG (DHL)  3PL 5.3% 18
4 NYK Holdings (Nippon Yusen Kaisha)  3PL 3.9% 9
5 ND Logistics  3PL 2.9% 6
6 Gefco (PSA Peugeot)  3PL 2.6% 6
7 FM Logistic  3PL 2.2% 6
8 GoodYear/Dunlop  Automotive 2.0% 2
9 Fagor Electrodomesticos 
  (Brandt Appliances)  Industrial Durables 1.9% 3
10 Carrefour  Retail 1.8% 2
11 Intermarche  Retail 1.5% 3
12 DSV A/S  3PL 1.5% 5
13 ID Logistics Group  3PL 1.3% 4
14 Deutsche Bahn (Schenker)  3PL 1.2% 4
15 Eurofred  3PL 1.2% 2
16 Schneider  Electrical/Mechanical 1.2% 3
17 Amazon.com Inc  Retail 1.2% 1
18 Kuehne & Nagel  3PL 1.2% 3
19 Depolabo Pharma Logistique  Pharmaceuticals 1.1% 2
20 Sonepar (Elektroskandia)  Electrical/Mechanical 1.0% 1

 Subtotal of largest 20 customers   47.7% 109
    
 Leases with 188 other customers   52.3% 262

 Total   100.0% 371

6 Leases at earlier of next break date or expiry date.
7 Leases at expiry date regardless of upcoming lease breaks.
8 Customers shown are either actual names or the name of the parent company of the customers.

Lease break and maturity dates
As at 31 December 2009

Largest 20 customers by annualised rental income 
As at 31 December 2009
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            Drawn amount

Description Rating Issue date Issue size Coupon Maturity date
Local

currency Euros
Comments/ 
Facility LTV9

Listed on the London Stock Exchange (CMBS issuances)

Pan European Industrial
 Properties Series III S.A

AAA
AAA

AA
Feb 2003 €190.5m 4.61%  May 201010 €24.2m €24.2m

Pan European Industrial
 Properties Series IV S.A

AAA
AA

AAA
Mar 2005 €389.0m 3.58% May 201011 €40.9m

£17.6m
€66.4m

Listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange

ProLogis International 
 Funding S.A.

Ba1 Dec 2007 €500.0m 7.625%11 Oct 2014 €495.7m €495.7m
Unsecured
Fixed rate

Other

Senior unsecured credit
 facility

– Dec 2007 €900.0m
€300m: +215bps
€300m: +265bps
€300m: +270bps

Dec 2010
Dec 2010
Dec 2012

€73.0m
€300.0m
€129.0m
£123.5m

€73.0m
€300.0m
€267.8m

Unsecured
Floating rate

Deutsche  
 Pfandbriefbank loan

– Jul 2009 €126.0m 4.99% Mar 2013 €126.0m €126.0m LTV: 55%

Eurohypo bank loan – Jul 2009 £86.1m  5.93% Jul 2013 £86.1m €96.8m LTV: 50%

Helaba bank loan – Oct 2009
SEK 332.5m

€15.5m
 5.93%
5.19%

Oct 2014
SEK 332.5m

€15.5m
€47.1m LTV: 60%

Helaba bank loan – Dec 2009 €45.3m  4.34% Jan 2013 €45.3m €45.3m LTV: 55%

Crédit Agricole CIB  
 bank loan

– Dec 2009 £43.0m  5.04% Mar 2013 £43.0m €48.3m LTV: 50%

Berlin Hyp bank loan – Dec 2009 €74.0m 3.95% Jan 2014 €48.3m €48.3m LTV: 50%

Total €1,638.9m

9 Facility loan-to-value as at latest covenant reporting date.
10  Maturity dates relate to repayment dates rather than legal maturity dates, which are typically three years later. It is expected that the debt will be repaid in full on or before the 

repayment dates.
11 Reduces to 5.875% (with effect from 23 October 2010) in the event of a return to an investment grade credit rating.
12 A 50 basis point fee is payable on the total amount of the revolving portion of the senior unsecured credit facility.

Outstanding debt
As at 31 December 2009
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To the Unitholders of 
ProLogis European Properties, FCP
34–38, Avenue de la Liberté
L-1930 Luxembourg

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ProLogis European Properties, a fonds commun de placement 
(“PEPR”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2009, and the related consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in the number of units issued, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, consolidated statement of investment in properties and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

The managers of the ProLogis Management S.à r.l. (the “Management Company”) responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
The managers of the Management Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. This responsibility includes: 
designing; implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Responsibility of the “réviseur d’entreprises”
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing as adopted by the “Institut des réviseurs d’entreprises”. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the judgement of the “réviseur d’entreprises”, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
“réviseur d’entreprises” considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the managers of the Management Company as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of ProLogis European Properties as of 
31 December 2009, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Supplementary information included the annual report, including the statement of performance measures, has been reviewed in the context 
of our mandate but has not been subject to specific audit procedures carried out in accordance with the standards described above. 
Consequently, we express no opinion on such information. However, we have no observation to make concerning such information in the 
context of the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

ERNST & YOUNG
Société Anonyme
réviseur d’entreprises

Bruno DI BARTOLOMEO
Luxembourg, 19 April 2010

Independent auditor’s report
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       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
      Notes €000 €000

Assets
Non-current assets
Investment in property as stated in consolidated statement of investment in properties    2,839,247 3,441,722
Property under construction      4 25 132
Hedging instruments      26 – 90,259
Deferred tax asset      14 10,381 5,625

       2,849,653 3,537,738

Current assets
Due from related parties      19 – 6,168
Accounts receivable, net      6 46,898 60,097
Other current assets      7 21,692 30,841
Other financial assets, available-for-sale      8 – 48,496
Cash and cash equivalents      9 64,530 77,101

       133,120 222,703

Total assets       2,982,773 3,760,441

Equity
Capital contributions      10 1,972,880 1,911,810
Costs of raising capital       (44,718) (37,721)

Net capital contributed       1,928,162 1,874,089
Net retained losses      11 (592,137) (282,586)
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment       (131,535) (176,288)
Cash flow hedge valuation reserve      12 (5,687) (9,959)

Equity attributable to unitholders       1,198,803 1,405,256
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries       2,266 5,589

Total equity       1,201,069 1,410,845

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing notes and bank loans, net of current portion     13 1,157,847 1,735,847
Hedging instruments      26 4,826 6,509
Deferred tax liability      14 28,400 112,421

       1,191,073 1,854,777

Current liabilities
Interest bearing notes and bank loans, current portion      13 460,853 335,288
Hedging instruments      26 1,487 –
Accounts payable       3,799 1,371
Due to related parties      19 6,095 40,387
Income and other taxes payable      14 22,845 16,449
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities      15 49,861 53,998
Deferred income       45,691 47,326

       590,631 494,819

Total liabilities       1,781,704 2,349,596

Total equity and liabilities       2,982,773 3,760,441

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

       Year 2009 Year 2008 
      Notes €000 €000

Rental income      16 265,320 292,177
Other property income       462 1,146

Total revenue       265,782 293,323

Ground rents paid       (2,446) (2,576)
Property management fees      19 (14,746) (18,332)
Other property rental expenses      17 (9,236) (11,484)

Cost of rental activities       (26,428) (32,392)

Gross profit       239,354 260,931

Fund management fees      19 (4,910) (6,058)
Fund custodian fees       (102) (191)
Other fund expenses      22 (9,071) (6,065)

Fund expenses       (14,083) (12,314)
Investment and development property disposal proceeds     18 189,097 27,609
Carrying value of investment and development property and currency translation effect on disposal  18 (231,751) (26,082)

(Loss)/gain on disposal of investment and development property      (42,654) 1,527
Gross valuation gains on property       6,949 39,022
Gross valuation losses on property       (476,344) (539,382)
Purchasers costs       23,618 16,642

Property fair value movements       (445,777) (483,718)

Loss before net financial cost, associate and impairment and tax     (263,160) (233,574)
Finance income      20 2,357 5,319
Finance expense      21 (107,789) (116,124)
Share of loss of an associate      5 – (76,834)
Loss on disposal of investment in an associate      5 – (137,048)
Impairment of other financial assets, available for sale      8 – (68,523)

Loss before tax       (368,592) (626,784)
Benefit for taxation      14 57,973 48,866

Net loss for the year       (310,619) (577,918)

Attributable to:
Non-controlling interests       (1,226) (1,023)
Unitholders       (309,393) (576,895)

Net loss for the year       (310,619) (577,918)

       Euro Euro

Loss per ordinary unit      11
Basic       (1.62) (3.03)
Diluted       (1.62) (3.03)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

       31 December  31 December 
       2009 2008 
      Notes €000 €000

Loss for the year       (310,619) (577,918)

Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Exchange difference on translating foreign operations       21,078 (120,294)
Transfer of cumulative exchange difference on disposal of foreign operations    18 23,675 –
Non-controlling interest on disposal of foreign operations      (2,097) –
Cash flow hedges       4,272 (25,209)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year       46,928 (145,503)

Total comprehensive loss for the year       (263,691) (723,421)

Attributable to:
Non-controlling interests       (3,323) (1,023)
Unitholders       (260,368) (722,398)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year       (263,691) (723,421)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

    Cumulative 
    foreign Cash flow 
  Costs Net retained currency hedge Total equity Non- 
 Capital of raising earnings/ translation valuation attributable to controlling  
 contributions capital (losses) adjustment reserve Unitholders interests Total equity 
 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Balance as at 31 December 2007 1,911,810 (37,721) 401,958 (55,994) 15,250 2,235,303 6,612 2,241,915
Other comprehensive loss for the year – – – (120,294) (25,209) (145,503) – (145,503)
Loss for the year – – (576,895) – – (576,895) (1,023) (577,918)

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (576,895) (120,294) (25,209) (722,398) (1,023) (723,421)
Distributions for the year – – (107,649) – – (107,649) – (107,649)

Balance as at 31 December 2008 1,911,810 (37,721) (282,586) (176,288) (9,959) 1,405,256 5,589 1,410,845
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  
 for the year – – – 44,753 4,272 49,025 (2,097) 46,928
Loss for the year – – (309,393) – – (309,393) (1,226) (310,619)

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  
 for the year – – (309,393) 44,753 4,272 (260,368) (3,323) (263,691)
Issue of the preferred units 61,070 (6,997) – – – 54,073 – 54,073
Preferred distributions for the year – – (158) – – (158) – (158)

Balance as at 31 December 2009 1,972,880 (44,718) (592,137) (131,535) (5,687) 1,198,803 2,266 1,201,069

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of changes in the number of units issued
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

       31 December  31 December 
      Issue price 2009 2008 
      € units units

Number of Units outstanding at the beginning of the year:
Ordinary Units      9.98–15.39 190,522,441 190,522,441

Number of Units issued during the year:
Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units      5.93 10,298,510 –
Ordinary Units      – – –

Number of Units outstanding at the end of the year:
Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units      5.93 10,298,510 –
Ordinary Units      9.98–15.39 190,522,441 190,522,441

On 23 December 2009 PEPR issued 10,298,510 Class A(1) convertible preferred units at €5.93 each for a total amount of €61.1 million. 
Net proceeds of €54.1 million were used to pay down existing debt. Refer to Note 10 for further details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of investment in properties
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

       31 December  31 December 
       2009 2008 
      Notes €000 €000

Historic cost
Cost at the beginning of the year       3,244,724 3,435,805
Capital expenditure       2,951 8,095
Leasing commission       (160) 10,959
Rent levelling       (387) 8,635
Transfer of completed development from property under construction     109 2,439
Disposals      18 (222,407) (8,531)
Effect of unrealised currency movements       34,155 (212,678)

Cost at the end of the year       3,058,985 3,244,724

Net unrealised gains related to property
Net unrealised gains at the beginning of the year       196,998 707,304
Gross valuation gains on investment in property during the year      6,949 39,022
Gross valuation losses on investment in property during the year      (476,344) (539,382)
Adjustment for purchasers costs       23,618 16,642
Reversal of accumulated revaluation (gain)/loss on disposal     18 14,331 (2,067)
Effect of unrealised currency movements       14,710 (24,521)

Net unrealised gains at the end of the year       (219,738) 196,998

Fair value at the end of the year       2,839,247 3,441,722

Fair Value of investment property
Appraised gross property value at the end of the year       2,980,594 3,617,279
Purchasers costs       (141,347) (175,557)

Fair value at the end of the year       2,839,247 3,441,722

Appraised market value as a percentage of net assets      236% 244%

Appraised net property value subject to security
Secured notes       208,085 1,516,413
Bank loans       872,277 281,400

       1,080,362 1,797,813

Insured value       2,433,332 2,137,536

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

       31 December  31 December 
       2009 2008 
       Notes €000 €000

Net cash flow from operating activities      24 115,837 114,950

Cash flow from investing activities
Investment in an associate      5 – (244,381)
Distribution from an associate       6,168 11,009
Investment in other financial assets available for sale       (38,000) –
Distribution from other financial assets available for sale     20 1,270 –
Capital expenditure and other expenditure on investment property     (2,951) (8,095)
Property under construction      4 (2) (4,005)
Payments from insurance company in regard of building losses net of rebuilding costs    1,082 2,955
Proceeds from disposal of shares of an associate      5 48,496 43,734
Proceeds from disposal of property under construction      – 16,167
Proceeds from disposal of investment property      18 189,097 11,581

Net cash provided from/(used in) investing activities       205,160 (171,035)

Cash flow from financing activities
Repayment of secured notes      13 (793,545) –
Proceeds from hedges related to secured notes      26 75,302 –
Repayment of unsecured notes      13 (4,250) (278)
Repayment of bank loans      13 (25,059) –
Proceeds from bank loans      13 353,796 205,969
Restricted proceeds from swap contracts      9 5,760 –
Net proceeds from preferred units issue      10 54,073 –
Distributions to Unitholders      11 – (149,624)

Net cash provided from/(used for) financing activities      (333,923) 56,067

Effects of exchange rate changes       355 (1,561)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents       (12,571) (1,579)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year      77,101 78,680

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year       64,530 77,101

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of performance measures
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

       31 December  31 December 
       2009 2008 
EPRA earnings per unit      Notes €000 €000

Net loss attributable to unit holders       (309,393) (576,895)
Adjustments for:
Revaluation movements on investment properties and development properties    445,777 483,718
Movements in share of net assets of an associate      5 – 76,834
Distribution from an associate      5 – 15,918
Loss on disposal of investment of an associate      5 – 137,048
Impairment of an investment, available for sale      8 – 68,523
Loss/(gain) on disposal of investment properties, net of tax     14,18 48,362 (1,527)
Deferred tax effects arising on revaluation of investment properties    14 (84,021) (74,587)
Expenses incurred not in the ordinary course of business      3,275 –
Non-controlling interests in respect of the above       (351) (1,345)

EPRA earnings for the year       103,649 127,687
Preferred dividend       (158) –

EPRA earnings for ordinary unitholders       103,491 127,687

EPRA earnings per ordinary unit for the period, euro       €0.54 €0.67

Expenses incurred not in the ordinary course of business represent the costs associated with the cancelled conversion of PEPR’s structure in 
the third quarter of 2009 and indirectly attributable to the cost of raising of preferred convertible units.

       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
EPRA net asset value      Notes €000 €000

Net asset value attributable to unitholders per IFRS consolidated financial statements   1,198,803 1,405,256
Adjustments for:
Cash flow hedge valuation reserve       5,687 9,959
Deferred tax      14 28,400 112,421

EPRA net asset value       1,232,890 1,527,636

Attributable to:
Ordinary unitholders       1,171,820 1,527,636
Preferred unitholders       61,070 –

       1,232,890 1,527,636

EPRA net asset value per ordinary unit       €6.15 €8.02

EPRA net asset value per preferred unit       €5.93 –

The performance measures above are prepared in accordance with the Best Practices Policy Recommendations issued by European Public 
Real Estate Association (EPRA) in July 2009.

The EPRA triple net asset value is not presented.

This statement is supplemental to these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

1 Organisation and regulation of ProLogis European Properties
ProLogis European Properties (“PEPR”) a fonds commun de placement (“FCP”), was established on 10 September 1999 under the laws of 
Luxembourg in the form of an unincorporated contractual co-ownership scheme and is now governed by the law on undertakings for collective 
investments of 20 December 2002 (“Luxembourg Law”) and by its specific Management Regulations dated 10 September 1999 which appear 
in Appendix E to the Private Placement Memorandum of 10 September 1999 (the “Management Regulations”) as amended on 29 June 2001, 
13 May 2003, 7 July 2003, 17 November 2005, 11 September 2006 (with effect from 27 September 2006), 29 May 2007, 26 March 2008 
and 13 November 2009. Full details of the Management Regulations are available on the PEPR website: www.prologis-ep.com.

PEPR is an externally managed real estate investment fund organised as a Luxembourg closed-ended FCP and regulated in Luxembourg 
by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (“CSSF”). PEPR owns a portfolio of high quality Distribution Facilities located in 
32 submarkets within 11 European countries. PEPR is managed by ProLogis Management S.à.r.l. (the “Management Company”), a limited 
liability company organised under the laws of Luxembourg (registration number B 70 940) having its registered office at 34–38, Avenue de 
la Liberté, L-1930 Luxembourg.

The Management Company has the exclusive right to manage PEPR and is vested with broad powers to administer and manage PEPR in 
the name of and on behalf of the Unitholders subject to the rules and regulations set out in the Management Regulations.

Going concern assessment
The Management Company has updated its assessment of PEPR’s future developments, financial position, performance and cash flows 
and has concluded that based on all measures taken in 2009 and early in 2010, as discussed below, the continued application of the going 
concern assumption is appropriate.

The business environment in which PEPR operates has been characterised since 2008 by a general credit market dislocation, a lack of 
liquidity and declining property values. PEPR has managed to maintain resilient operational performance despite these developments and 
the uncertain global economic outlook.

However, these adverse economic developments have significantly affected PEPR’s results of operations in both 2009 and 2008, primarily 
as a result of downward fair market valuation adjustments and impairment charges recorded during these periods. In addition, in view of 
PEPR’s substantial refinancing requirements, PEPR’s corporate credit rating was downgraded by Moody’s, to Baa3 in March 2009 and to 
Ba1 in June 2009.

While the optimisation of capital resources has been a focus of the Management Company and PEPR’s Board since PEPR’s inception, 
since 2008 the Management Company and PEPR’s Board have had an active focus on debt management and have completed a range 
of measures to address some of the adverse effects of the difficult current economic conditions on PEPR’s business. These measures 
included:

The renegotiation, at the end of 2008, of certain financial covenants of PEPR’s unsecured credit facility and a continuing further •	
negotiation with the lenders under that facility to (a) reduce the consolidated tangible net worth covenant currently applying to the facility 
and (b) amend the definition of “Restricted Period” in the facility such that certain restrictions against payments will apply unless PEPR 
raises further equity which in aggregate equals, or exceeds, €200.0 million and the consolidated tangible net worth as of the last day of 
the most recent fiscal quarter of PEPR is at least a minimum of €1.0 billion.
The suspension of dividend distributions by PEPR, starting with the dividend for the fourth quarter of 2008 and for the foreseeable future •	
(refer to note 11).
The sale of PEPR’s entire interest in PEPF II in two transactions in December 2008 and February 2009, realising net proceeds of •	
€54.2 million and relieving PEPR of the obligation to fund a further €522.3 million of investments in PEPF II before August 2010 (refer to 
notes 5 and 8).
The partial repayment, in April 2009, of an aggregate €335.9 million of CMBS debt, funded through a combination of cash from •	
operations, cash inflows from the unwinding of related derivatives and a drawdown under PEPR’s €900 Million unsecured credit facility 
(“€900 Million Facility”). The repayment of CMBS debt released security on €550.9 million worth of properties (at December 2008 
values) (refer to note 13).
The agreement, in May 2009, to dispose of nine Distribution Facilities in The Netherlands and Germany for net proceeds of •	
€114.5 million, all received prior to 30 September 2009 (refer to note 18).
The sale, in June 2009, of five Distribution Facilities in the UK generating total net proceeds of £63.1 million (€72.8 million), all received •	
prior to 30 September 2009 (refer to note 18).
The agreement and funding, in July 2009, with EuroHypo AG, for a new £86.1 million (€95.0 million) secured bank loan facility, maturing •	
in July 2013, the proceeds from which are used primarily to pay down existing debt (refer to note 13).
The agreement in July 2009, to a three-year extension for €126.0 million of the €151.1 million secured bank loan facility with Deutsche •	
Pfandbriefbank (formerly known as Hypo Real Estate Bank International) that would have matured in March 2010, the differential of 
€25.1 million of principal amount having been repaid (refer to note 13).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

The partial repayment on 5 August 2009 of an aggregate of €98.6 million of CMBS debt (due May 2010), funded through a combination •	
of asset disposals, cash flow from operations, cash inflows from the unwinding of related derivatives and new secured bank loans. The 
repayment of CMBS debt released security on approximately €81.4 million (at June 2009 values) worth of assets retained in the business 
and security on four properties that had been sold earlier in the quarter (refer to note 13).
The agreement in October 2009 with a single lender for a new €48.0 million secured bank loan facility, maturing in October 2014 used to •	
pay down existing debt (refer to note 13).
The partial repayment on 5 November 2009 of an aggregate of €359.1 million of CMBS debt (due May 2010), funded through a •	
combination of cash flow from operations, €20.2 million of cash inflows from the unwinding of related derivatives, a new secured bank 
loan and €244.0 million drawing under the €900 Million Facility. The repayment of CMBS debt released security of approximately €482.9 
million worth of assets (at September 2009 values) (refer to note 13).
The issue of 10,298,510 Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units on 23 December 2009 generating gross proceeds of €61.1 million. Net •	
proceeds of €54.1 million were used to pay down existing debt (refer to note 10).
The agreement in December 2009 with a single lender (Berlin Hyp) for a new €74.0 million secured bank loan facility, secured on 17 •	
Distribution Facilities in Germany and Poland, maturing in January 2014. Funding of €48.3 million was received in December 2009. the 
balance of €25.7 million was received in January 2010. Total proceeds were used to pay down existing debt under the €900.0 Million 
Facility (refer to note 13).
The agreement in December 2009 with a syndicate of seven lenders for a new €300.0 million secured bank loan facility, secured on •	
39 Distribution Facilities in Italy, Spain, France and Belgium, maturing in December 2013. Funding of €300.0 million was received in 
January 2010 and was used to pay down existing debt under the €900.0 Million Facility (refer to note 13). and
The agreement in December 2009 with a single lender (DFB) for a new €66.9 million secured bank loan facility, secured on 9 •	
Distribution Facilities in France and the United Kingdom, maturing in December 2013. Funding of €66.9 million was received in January 
2010 and was used to pay down existing debt under the €900.0 Million Facility (refer to note 13).

Due to the above initiatives, management considers that perceived concerns over PEPR’s ability to continue as a going concern have been 
sufficiently addressed, but given continuing difficult market conditions management will continue to adopt policies to strengthen PEPR’s 
financial position. Refer also to Note 26.8 “Liquidity risk”.

2 Summary of significant accounting principles
Unless otherwise stated, the consolidated financial statements of PEPR are presented in thousands of Euros. The consolidated financial 
statements are presented on an historical cost basis, except for the measurement of investment in properties and certain financial 
instruments relating to hedging which are stated at fair value.

These consolidated financial statements are presented for the year ended 31 December 2009, with comparative audited figures for the year 
ended 31 December 2008.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of PEPR and all its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“IFRS”).

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles as described 
above requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the accounts and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The consolidated financial statements of PEPR have been authorised for issuance on 19 April 2010 by the Management Company.

The significant accounting principles applied by PEPR are regularly re-evaluated by the Management Company to ensure their continued 
quality and reasonableness. They are as follows:

2.1 Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include all activities of PEPR and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiary companies
Subsidiaries are defined as entities in which PEPR, directly or indirectly, has a controlling interest and are consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to PEPR and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of PEPR. The 
accounting principles of PEPR may differ from those applied in other countries. Where necessary, the accounts of the underlying entities 

1 Organisation and regulation of ProLogis European Properties continued
Going concern assessment continued
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have been adjusted or reclassified on consolidation in order that their results may be consistent with the accounting principles of PEPR. 
Acquired companies have been included in the consolidated financial statements using the purchase method of accounting when, and only 
when the transaction can be identified as a business combination. When determining if an acquisition qualifies as a business combination 
or not, management consider if the transaction includes the acquisition of supporting infrastructure, employees, service provider agreements 
and major input and output processes, as well as active lease agreements.

For business combinations, the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of cash flows include the results and cash 
flows of acquired companies for the period from its date of acquisition to the period end. On acquisition, the costs incurred in acquiring 
subsidiaries are allocated to the separable net assets of the acquired entity with any difference being allocated to goodwill. Subsequent 
valuation adjustments to goodwill are recorded in the consolidated income statement.

When the transaction has not been identified as being a business combination, the transaction has been accounted for as an acquisition of 
individual assets and liabilities where the initial purchase consideration is allocated to the separable assets and liabilities acquired based on 
their related fair values.

The cost of investment in a subsidiary is eliminated against PEPR’s share in the net assets of that subsidiary at the date of acquisition or 
contribution. All intercompany receivables, payables, income and expenses are eliminated.

Where PEPR, either directly or indirectly, holds a controlling interest in a subsidiary but does not have complete control of that subsidiary, 
the value of the interest not held by PEPR is recorded as non-controlling interests in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Special purpose entities
Certain wholly owned indirect subsidiaries of PEPR (the “Finance Subsidiaries”) have raised debt financing using special purpose entities 
(“SPEs”). These SPEs are orphan entities which are operated by third parties independent of both PEPR and the Management Company.  
As the sole function of each SPE is to provide debt financing to a Finance Subsidiary and, in substance, the risks and rewards are with 
PEPR, for the purposes of these consolidated financial statements only, each SPE is treated as if it is a fully consolidated entity within PEPR 
(Note 27). The precise nature of the loan structure is explained in Note 13 to these consolidated financial statements.

Related parties
Related parties are defined as parties either directly or indirectly controlled, managed or owned by ProLogis, a Real Estate Investment 
Trust organised under the laws of Maryland, USA, which indirectly, through one or more wholly-owned subsidiaries, owns the Management 
Company and owns Ordinary Units (“ProLogis”).

2.2 Foreign currency translation
The presentation currency of PEPR is the euro.

The functional currency of a subsidiary is determined as the principal currency in which the entity’s assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
are denominated. This may be different to the local currency of the country of incorporation or the country where the subsidiary conducts 
its operations.

Subsidiaries with operations in all jurisdictions, except for the UK and five subsidiaries in Sweden, have the euro as their functional currency.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of an entity are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in such currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.  
All differences are recognised in the consolidated income statement under “Finance expense” (see Note 2.31).

The cumulative effect of exchange differences on cash transactions are classified as realised gains and losses in the consolidated income 
statement in the period in which they are settled. Exchange differences on transactions not yet settled in cash are classified as unrealised 
gains and losses under “Finance expenses” (see Note 21).

The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are determined in accordance with the accounting principles of PEPR. Where the functional 
currency is different from the presentation currency of PEPR those assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
balance sheet date. The income statements of such subsidiaries are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. The exchange 
differences arising on the currency translation are recorded as a separate component of other comprehensive income under the heading 
of “Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment”. On the disposal of such a subsidiary, accumulated exchange differences are 

2 Summary of significant accounting principles continued
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recognised in the consolidated income statement as a component of the gain or loss on disposal, including any tax effects. Exchange 
differences arising on monetary items, which in substance form part of PEPR’s net investment in a foreign entity, are recorded as a separate 
component of other comprehensive income under the heading of “Cumulative foreign currency translation”.

Fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the acquired company and are 
recorded at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

2.3 Investment in property
Investment in property mainly comprises the investment in land and buildings in the form of distribution facilities which are not occupied 
substantially for use by, or in the operations of, PEPR, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental 
income and capital appreciation by leasing to third parties under long-term operating leases.

Investment in property is initially recorded at cost including acquisition costs such as transfer taxes, initial lease commissions and legal fees. 
Expenditure on renovation and development of investment properties is also initially capitalised at cost. After initial recognition, investment 
properties are measured at fair value as determined by third party independent appraisers (the “Appraisers”). Additionally, valuations are 
undertaken on acquisitions, contributions-in-kind and on disposals, in order to comply with Luxembourg Law. The gain or loss arising from 
a change in the fair value of the investment property is included in the consolidated income statement in the period in which it arises. Jones 
Lang LaSalle (“JLL”), CB Richard Ellis (“CBRE”) and DTZ Zadelhoff (“DTZ”) have been appointed as the Appraisers for PEPR. Depreciation 
is not provided on investment properties.

Realised gains and losses on the disposal of investment properties are determined as a difference between disposal proceeds and carrying 
value and are included in the consolidated income statement in the period in which they arise.

2.4 Leases
Assets held under finance leases are capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the life of the lease and the life of the assets. The 
related liability is included in bank loans and the implied interest charge is allocated to the consolidated income statement over the lease 
term using the implicit interest rate method.

2.5 Leasing commissions
Initial leasing commissions are included in the cost of acquiring an investment property. Leasing commissions incurred post the acquisition 
of a property are recognised at cost in the carrying value of investment properties in the period in which they are incurred. Subsequently, 
the fair values of the underlying leases are considered in the overall determination of the fair value of the investment in property, with any 
movement being recorded in the consolidated income statement.

2.6 Property under construction
In May 2008, the IASB revised the scope of IAS 40 “Investment property” such that property under construction is classified as investment 
property and is measured at fair value (refer to Note 2.3).

2.7 Investment in an associate
PEPR’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. An associate is an entity in which PEPR has 
significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost adjusted for post acquisition changes in 
the PEPR’s share of the net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment 
and is not amortised. The consolidated income statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate. Where there has 
been a change recognised in other comprehensive income of the associate, PEPR recognises its share of any such changes in its other 
comprehensive income and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Profits and losses 
resulting from transactions between PEPR and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as PEPR. Where necessary, adjustments are made to 
bring the accounting policies in line with those of PEPR.

Upon application of the equity method, PEPR determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss of PEPR’s investment in 
any associates. PEPR determines at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in associate is 
impaired. If this is the case PEPR calculates the amount of impairment as being the difference between the fair value of the associate and 
the carrying value and recognises the amount in consolidated income statement.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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2.8 Financial assets
Initial recognition
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and receivables, 
held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. PEPR determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets are recognised initially at fair value. In the case of investments not at fair value through profit and loss financial assets are 
recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs or at carrying value if reclassified from investments in associates. 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention marketplace 
(regular way purchases) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that PEPR commits to purchase or sell the asset.

PEPR’s financial assets include cash and short-term deposits, trade and other receivables, unquoted financial instruments available for sale, 
and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon the initial 
recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling 
in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the PEPR that do not meet hedging accounting 
criteria as defined by IAS 39. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are carried in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the consolidated income statement. PEPR did not have any held-to-
maturity investments to fair value during the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such 
financial assets are carried at amortised costs using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-to-maturity when PEPR has 
the positive intention and ability to hold it to maturity. After initial measurement held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised 
costs using the effective interest method. This method uses an effective interest rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. Gains and losses are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. PEPR did 
not have any held-to-maturity investments during the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of 
the three preceding categories. After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with unrealised gains 
or losses recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is (i) derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
recorded in other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated income statement, or (ii) determined to be impaired, at which 
time the cumulative loss recorded in other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

2.9 Financial liabilities
Initial recognition
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, loans and borrowings, 
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. PEPR determines the classification of its financial 
liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs.

PEPR’s financial liabilities include trade and other payable, loans and borrowings, and derivatives financial instruments.

2 Summary of significant accounting principles continued
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Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon the 
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 
of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the PEPR that do not meet hedging 
accounting criteria as defined by IAS 39. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised costs using the effective interest rate 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process.

Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts issued by PEPR are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss 
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial 
guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
issuance of a guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the balance sheet date and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Offsetting of financial instrument
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if, and only 
if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For financial instruments where there is no active market, fair value is 
determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the 
current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the sale, discounted cash flows analysis or other valuation methods.

Amortised cost of financial instruments
Amortised costs are computed using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment and principal repayment or 
reduction. The calculation takes into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets
PEPR assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. A financial asset is 
deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Available-for-sale investments
For available-for-sale investments, PEPR assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that an investment is 
impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the 
consolidated income statement – is removed from other comprehensive and recognised in the consolidated income statement. Impairment 
losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated income statement; increases in their fair value after impairment are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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In the case of debt instrument classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence is assessed based on the same criteria as financial asset 
carried at amortised cost. Interest continues to be accrued at the original effective interest rate on the reduced carrying amount of the asset 
and is recorded as part of “finance income”. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of the debt instrument increases and the increase can 
be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated income statement, the impairment 
loss is reversed through the consolidated income statement.

2.11 Derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or a part of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:
i) The rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired; or
ii)  PEPR has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 

without material delay to a third party under a “pass though” arrangement; and either (a) PEPR has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or (b) PEPR has neither transferred nor substantially retained all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

When PEPR has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, a new asset is recognised 
to the extent of PEPR’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred 
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that PEPR could 
be required to repay. When continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash settled option or 
similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of PEPR’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that PEPR 
may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured 
at fair value, the extent of PEPR’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option 
exercise price.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, with the 
difference in the respective carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

2.12 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
PEPR uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge risks associated with 
interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at the fair value on the date on 
which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when 
the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives during the year that do not qualify for hedge accounting and the 
ineffective portion of an effective hedge, are taken directly to the consolidated income statement. The effectiveness of the hedge is assessed 
by comparing the value of the hedged item with the notional value implicit in the contractual terms of the financial instrument being used in 
the hedge (Note 26).

The fair value of forward currency contracts is the difference between the forward exchange rate and the contract rate. The forward 
exchange rate is referenced to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate swap 
contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value hedges, where they hedge the exposure to changes in the 
fair value of a recognised asset or liability, or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows is attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, PEPR formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which it wishes to apply hedge 
accounting as well as the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification 
of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging 
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instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 
Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing 
basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting period for which they are designated.

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedges
The change in the fair value of a hedging derivative is recognised in the consolidated income statement. The change in the fair value of 
the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the carrying value of the hedged item and is also recognised in the 
consolidated income statement.

PEPR uses forward exchange contracts and cross currency swap as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk in forecasted 
transactions (see Note 13 and Note 26).

Cash flow hedges
For cash flow hedges used to manage interest rate risks which meet the criteria for hedge accounting, PEPR records interest on the hedged 
loan at an interest rate implicit in the swap agreement. Cash flow hedges are valued at fair value and included under “Hedging instruments” 
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the effective hedging instrument is recognised 
in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Amounts taken to other 
comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated income statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as 
when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recognised or when the forecast sale occurs.

Those financial instruments which do not meet the conditions for hedge accounting are accounted for at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised immediately as a component of the consolidated income statement.

Where financial instruments are unwound prior to their planned maturity, any gain or loss and associated costs are recorded in “Finance 
income” or “Finance expenses” in the period in which the swap is unwound.

PEPR uses interest rate swaps as hedges of its exposure to changes in the market interest rates (see Note 13 and Note 25).

Hedges of a net investment
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation included a hedged monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net investment, are 
accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge 
are recognised in other comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive 
income is transferred to the consolidated income statement.

2.13 Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess cost of the business combination over PEPR’s 
interest in net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of 
PEPR’s cash generating units, or groups of cash generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of PEPR are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates. Where the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

2.14 Amounts due between related parties
Amounts due from or to related parties (see Note 19) are stated at amortised cost.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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2.15 Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are carried at amortised cost less provisions for doubtful debts, if any. The Management Company assesses specific 
provisions on a customer by customer basis throughout the period. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established where 
there is objective evidence that PEPR will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probably that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in 
payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement within “Other property rental expenses”. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account 
for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against “Other property rental expenses” in the 
consolidated income statement.

2.16 Current assets and liabilities
The fair value of other current financial assets and liabilities due within one year approximate the carrying value disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements, due to the short time in which these transactions are settled.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and cash with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. The 
use and disbursement of certain cash deposits are restricted under the terms of various financing agreements (see Note 9).

2.18 Capital contributions
Capital contributions represent the amount of capital called and contributed to PEPR by Unit holders since the inception of PEPR and are 
reported at historical cost.

2.19 Cost of raising capital and launching PEPR
General fund launch costs are written off through the consolidated income statement in the period in which they are incurred. The cost of 
raising capital represents direct costs incurred in establishing or increasing the capital of PEPR including, amongst others, legal, accounting 
and investment banker’s fees. Such costs are netted against the capital raised and are disclosed as a separate component of equity.

2.20 Accumulated distributions
The Management Regulations create an obligation to pay a quarterly dividend to the extent that distributable cash flow is available. 
Management has discretion to adjust dividend distributions to unitholders to maintain an appropriate capital structure (see Note 11). 
Distributions are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared and approved but not yet paid.

2.21 Interest bearing debt
Debt, comprising secured and unsecured notes and bank loans, is carried on the consolidated statement of financial position at the fair value 
of the initial proceeds less the unamortised portion of discounts and transaction costs incurred to acquire the debt. Discounts and transaction 
costs are amortised over the life of the related debt through finance expenses using the effective interest rate method (see Note 2.31).

Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities 
exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include internal administrative or holding costs.

2.22 Taxation
The consolidated subsidiaries of PEPR are subject to taxation in the countries in which they operate. Current taxation is provided for at the 
applicable current rates on the respective taxable profits.

2.23 Deferred taxation
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
i)  where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 

and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
ii)  in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, where 

the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, carry forward 
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:
iii)  where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor the 
taxable profit or loss; and

iv)  in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interest in joint ventures, 
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred income tax assets are re-assessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply when an asset is realised or the liability 
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

2.24 Provisions and expense accruals
A provision is recognised when, and only when PEPR has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is 
probable (i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect 
the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

2.25 Deferred income
Deferred income represents rental income which has been billed to customers as at the balance sheet date, but which relates to 
future periods.

2.26 Revenue recognition—rental income
PEPR leases its buildings to customers under agreements that are classified as operating leases.

Rental income represents rents charged to customers and is recognised on a straight line basis taking account of any rent free periods and 
other lease incentives, net of any sales taxes, over the lease period to the first break option (“rent levelling”).

2.27 Revenue recognition—other property income
Other property income represents income derived from property sources other than rental income from customers, and is recognised on an 
accruals basis in the period to which it contractually relates, net of any sales taxes.

2.28 Expense recognition
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenses are charged to the consolidated income statement, except for those which 
are related to the raising of equity (see Note 2.19), the raising of debt (see Note 2.21) or incurred in the acquisition of an investment or 
construction of a property which are capitalised as part of the cost of an asset. Expenses arising on the disposal of investments are deducted 
from the disposal proceeds. PEPR acts as an agent in respect of the recovery of maintenance utilities and similar expenses and therefore 
they are presented net in the consolidated income statement.

2.29 Revenue recognition—Investment property disposals
Gains on the disposal of investments in property are recorded at the time title is transferred which corresponds to the time when significant 
risks and rewards of ownership have been passed to the buyer.

2.30 Finance income
This includes interest income received during the period.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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2.31 Finance expenses
Finance expenses include:
i) interest expenses related to secured and unsecured notes, long-term and short-term debt, and is recognised on an accruals basis;
ii) amortisation of transaction costs which are part of the effective interest rate (see Note 2.21);
iii)  the effect of the unrealised change in the fair value of mark to market currency hedges related to the financing activities for the period 

(see Note 2.12);
iv)  the effect of the unrealised foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets and liabilities arising in the period (see Note 2.2) plus 

the counterpart of (iii) above connected to the application of the net investment method in foreign operations and;
v)  the effect of the realised foreign currency gains and losses on cash transactions completed during the period (see Note 2.2).

2.32 Segment information
PEPR operates through its relationship with ProLogis, a system that allows customers’ needs to be serviced regardless of their location. 
The majority of the properties owned by PEPR are designed such that they are of similar standard and design, regardless of their location. 
The design of the buildings is such that they are attractive to similar customers across markets, and many of ProLogis’ customers occupy 
properties across Europe. As a consequence of the generic nature of the properties and needs of the customers, the Management 
Company believes that it is appropriate to classify all operations under one industry segment, namely logistical property and in one region, 
namely Europe.

2.33 Subsequent events
Post-period-end events that provide additional information about PEPR’s position at the balance sheet date (adjusting events) are reflected 
in the consolidated financial statements. Post-period-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements when significant.

2.34 Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is remote. The entity recognises a provision for the part of the obligation for which an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable.

A contingent asset is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

2.35 New standards
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that PEPR has adopted the following IFRIC 
interpretation during the year:

IAS 1 – Revised Presentation of Financial Statements
The revised IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in 
equity includes only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owners changes in equity presented as a single line. In addition, the 
Standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of income and expense recognised in profit or loss, 
together with all other items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. PEPR elected to 
present two statements.

Amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 – Puttable Financial Instruments
The amendment to IAS 32 requires certain puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation to be classified as equity 
if certain criteria are met. The amendment to IAS 1 requires disclosure of certain information relating to puttable instruments classified as 
equity. The adoption of these amendments did not have any effect on the financial position or performance of PEPR.

Improvements to IFRSs
In May 2008 the International Accounting Standards Board issued its first omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view 
to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The adoption of these amendments did not have any effect on the financial position or 
performance of PEPR:
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Removal of the reference to “total interest income” as a component of finance costs.
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements: Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in accordance with IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are not automatically classified as current in the statement of financial position.
IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Clarification that only implementation guidance that is an integral 
part of an IFRS is mandatory when selecting accounting policies.
IAS 10 – Events after the Reporting Period: Clarification that dividends declared after the end of the reporting period are not obligations.
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IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment: Replace the term “net selling price” with “fair value less costs to sell”.
IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment: Items of property, plant and equipment held for rental that are routinely sold in the ordinary course 
of business after rental, are transferred to inventory when rental ceases and they are held for sale.
IAS 18 – Revenue: Replacement of the term “direct costs” with “transaction costs” as defined in IAS 39.
IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs: The definition of borrowing costs is revised to consolidate the two types of items that are considered components 
of “borrowing costs” into one – the interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method calculated in accordance with IAS 
39.
IAS 28 – Investment in Associates: If an associate is accounted for at fair value in accordance with IAS 39, only the requirement of IAS 28 to 
disclose the nature and extent of any significant restrictions on the ability of the associate to transfer funds to the entity in the form of cash 
or repayment of loans applies. This amendment has no impact on PEPR as it does not account for its associates at fair value in accordance 
with IAS 39. An investment in an associate is a single asset for the purpose of conducting the impairment test. Therefore, any impairment 
test is not separately allocated to the goodwill included in the investment balance.
IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting: Earnings per share are disclosed in interim financial reports if an entity is within the scope of IAS 33.
IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets: When discounted cash flows are used to estimate “fair value less cost to sell” additional disclosure is 
required about the discount rate, consistent with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate “value in use”. 
This amendment has no immediate impact on the consolidated financial statements of PEPR because the recoverable amount of its cash 
generating units is currently estimated using “value in use”.
IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: Changes in circumstances relating to derivatives are not reclassifications 
and therefore may be either removed from, or included in, the “fair value through profit or loss” classification after initial recognition. 
Removed the reference in IAS 39 to a “segment” when determining whether an instrument qualifies as a hedge. Require the use of the 
revised effective interest rate when remeasuring a debt instrument on the cessation of fair value hedge accounting. The adoption of the 
amendment did not have any effect on the financial position or performance of PEPR.
IAS 40 – Investment Property: Revision of the scope such that property under construction or development for future use as an investment 
property is classified as investment property. If fair value cannot be reliably determined, the investment under construction will be measured 
at cost until such time as fair value can be determined or construction is complete. Also, revised the conditions for a voluntary change in 
accounting policy to be consistent with IAS 8 and clarified that the carrying amount of investment property held under lease is the valuation 
obtained increased by any recognised liability. The development properties as of 31 December 2009 and 2008 were not significant; whereas 
as of 31 December 2007 the carrying value approximated the fair value at which it had been sold during 2008 (refer to Notes 4 and 
18). The adoption of the amendment, therefore, did not have impact on the consolidated financial statements of PEPR, but required the 
amendment to its accounting policies (refer to Note 2.6).

IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
The Interpretation provides guidance on how to determine whether an agreement for the construction of real estate is within the scope 
of IAS 11 Construction Contracts or IAS 18 Revenue and when revenue from the construction should be recognised. The adoption of the 
interpretation did not impact the financial performance or the accounting policies of PEPR.

IFRIC 16 – Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
The Interpretation provides guidance on accounting for the hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation in an entity’s consolidated 
financial statements. The adoption of the interpretation did not impact the financial performance or the accounting policies of PEPR.

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are applicable to PEPR and 
mandatory for PEPR’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 or later periods but which PEPR has not yet early adopted:

IFRS 3R – Business Combinations and IAS 27R – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
The revised standards were issued in January 2008 and become effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009. IFRS 
3R introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after this date that will impact the amount 
of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results. IAS 27R requires that 
a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such 
transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the 
accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential amendments were made 
to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 12 Income Taxes, IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, IAS 28 Investment in 
Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The changes by IFRS 3R and IAS 27R will affect future acquisitions or loss of control 
and transactions with minority interests. PEPR plans to adopt this revised standard at its effective date or at the date of endorsement by the 
European Union, if later and does not anticipate any significant impacts on its consolidated financial statements.
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IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation: Classification of Right Issues
The amendment provides that when an entity issues rights denominated in a currency other than the entity’s functional currency, and those 
rights are issued pro rata to the entity’s existing shareholders for a fixed amount of cash, they should be classified as equity even if their 
exercise price is denominated in a currency other than the issuer’s functional currency. The amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 February 2010, with earlier application permitted. The amendment is to be applied retrospectively. PEPR plans to 
adopt this interpretation at its effective date, and does not anticipate any significant impacts on its consolidated financial statements.

IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items
These amendments to IAS 39 were issued in August 2008 and become effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The 
amendment addresses the designation of a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in 
particular situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of a financial 
instrument as hedged item. PEPR plans to adopt this interpretation at its effective date or at the date of endorsement by the European 
Union, if later and does not anticipate any significant impacts on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments
IFRS 9 Financial instruments is the first step in a three part project by the IASB to replace IAS 39 Financial instruments. This first part, 
dealing with the classification and measurement of financial assets, simplifies the recognition of financial assets by requiring such assets  
to be measured at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on certain criteria. The standard is effective for financial years beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013, although it may be early adopted. PEPR is in the process of analysing the impact of this standard on their 
operations as well as the date at which they plan to adopt the standard.

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners
This interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 with early application permitted. It provides guidance 
on how to account for non-cash distributions to owners. The interpretation clarifies when to recognise a liability, how to measure it and the 
associated assets, and when to derecognise the asset and liability. PEPR does not expect IFRIC 17 to have an impact on its consolidated 
financial statements as PEPR did not make non-cash distributions to unitholders in the past.

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with equity instruments
The interpretation clarifies that when equity instruments are issued to a creditor, the financial liability is extinguished and the equity 
instruments are treated as consideration paid to extinguish the liability. The equity instruments are measured at either the fair value 
of the liability extinguished or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliable. Any difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The 
interpretation has an effective date for the financial year beginning on or after 1 July 2010. PEPR has concluded that the interpretation will 
have no impact on its financial position or performance.

In April 2009, the IASB issued an omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying 
wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. PEPR has not yet adopted the following amendments to standards 
which are applicable to PEPR and anticipates that these changes will have no material effect on PEPR’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: clarifies that the disclosures required in respect of non-current •	
assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale or discontinued operations are only those set out in IFRS 5. The disclosure 
requirements of other IFRSs only apply if specifically required for such non-current assets or discontinued operations
IFRS 8 Operating Segment Information: clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported when those assets and liabilities •	
are included in measures that are used by the chief operating decision maker.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in accordance with IAS 39 Financial •	
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are not automatically classified as current in the statement of financial position.
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Explicitly states that only expenditure that results in recognising an asset can be classified as a cash flow •	
from investing activities.
IAS 17 Leases clarifies that lease of land should be classified as either finance or operating using the general principles of IAS 17.•	
IAS 18 Revenue: provides additional guidance regarding the determination as to whether an entity is acting as a principal or an agent.•	
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: When discounted cash flows are used to estimate “fair value less cost to sell” additional disclosure is •	
required about the discount rate, consistent with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate “value in 
use”. The amendment clarified that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, acquired in a business combination, is the operating 
segment as defined in IFRS 8 before aggregation for reporting purposes.
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: clarifies the treatment of loan prepayment penalties, the scope exemption •	
for business combination contracts and cash flow hedge accounting
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IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives: clarifies the scope of IFRIC 9 and revised IFRS 3•	
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation: amends to the restriction on the entity the entity that can hold hedging instruments.•	

3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements
PEPR makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

3.1 Investment in properties
The gross property value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction without deduction for any associated transfer taxes, sales taxes, or other costs normally borne by the purchaser. Transaction 
costs normally borne by the seller are not deducted in arriving at Gross Property Value, in accordance with IAS40. The fair value is 
calculated by deducting the costs normally borne by the purchaser from the Gross Property Value. Fair value is not intended to represent 
the liquidation value of the property, which would be dependent upon the price negotiated at the time of sale less any associated selling 
costs. The fair value is largely based on estimates using property appraisal techniques and other valuation methods as outlined below. Such 
estimates are inherently subjective and actual values can only be determined in a sales transaction.

The appraisers derive the fair value by applying the methodology and valuation guidelines as set out by the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors in the United Kingdom in accordance with IAS 40. From 2007, the property assets within PEPR are being revalued on a six 
monthly basis by the Independent Appraisers. At each balance sheet date, the Management Company reviews the latest independent 
valuation to ensure that it is still applicable. The last valuation exercise by the independent appraisers was performed as at 31 December 
2009. Volatility in the global financial system has created a significant degree of turbulence in commercial real estate markets across the 
world and the lack of liquidity in the capital markets means that it may be difficult to achieve a successful sale of property assets in the 
short-term. This inevitably resulted in greater uncertainty of the property values as of 31 December 2009.

The valuation methods used by the independent valuers were predominately income capitalisation methods. The passing or market rent 
is capitalised in perpetuity to arrive at a market value of the property. The rate or “yield” used is derived from observation of or sales in the 
market. Valuations were based on various assumptions as to tenure, letting, town planning, and the condition and repair of buildings and 
sites – including ground and groundwater contamination, as well as the best estimates of applicable Net Operating Income (“NOI”) and 
reversionary yields, passing rents, leasing periods, purchasers costs, etc. The table below summarises the average effective NOI per each 
country.

 NOI average yield

Country       2009 2008

Belgium       7.8% 7.0%
Czech Republic       7.5% 7.1%
France       8.7% 7.9%
Germany       8.2% 7.4%
Hungary       8.9% 8.1%
Italy       8.2% 6.9%
The Netherlands       7.6% 6.5%
Poland       8.8% 7.2%
Spain       7.8% 6.7%
Sweden       7.5% 6.6%
UK       8.6% 8.2%

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

2 Summary of significant accounting principles continued
2.35 New standards continued
Improvements to IFRSs continued
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In 2009 the turbulence seen in the commercial property markets has subsided to some extent and the credit markets have improved, 
though the relative lack of activity in the capital markets means that it may be difficult to achieve a successful sale of property assets in the 
short-term. This inevitably results in a greater uncertainty of the property values. However, transparency and certainty concerning values 
have improved with an increasing volume of transactions compared to the first half of 2009.

3.2 Income and deferred taxes
PEPR is subject to income and capital gains taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the total 
provision for income and deferred taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination and timing 
of payment is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. PEPR recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the income and deferred tax provisions in the period in which the determination is made.

3.3 Fair value currency and interest rate swaps
PEPR estimates fair values of swaps by reference to current market conditions compared to the terms of the swap agreements using the 
results of an external appraisal.

3.4 Fair value financial liabilities
The fair value of loans and borrowing approximates to the carrying value disclosed in the consolidated financial statements due to the 
variable interest terms attached to those borrowings, except for unsecured notes which bear the fixed interest rate (see Note 25).

3.5 Special purpose entities
Judgement is required to determine whether the substance of the relationship between PEPR and a special purpose entity indicates that the 
special purpose entity is controlled by PEPR (see Note 2.1). Judgement is also required in determining the point at which a special purpose 
entity should be deconsolidated.

3.6 Classification of preferred units
Judgement is required to determine whether preferred units should be classified as financial liability or equity in accordance with IAS 32 
Financial Instruments: Presentation. Based on the terms and conditions of the Class A(1) convertible preferred units issued in November 
2009 PEPR has determined that the preferred units have equity characteristics rather that financial liability. This was primarily based on 
the fact that the preferred unit holders have no put option requiring PEPR to repay the units and that management has discretion to pay 
preferred distribution under certain conditions.

3.7 Operating lease contracts
PEPR enters into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. PEPR has determined, based on evaluation of the terms 
and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and so accounts for the 
leases as operating leases.

4 Property under construction
Property under construction comprises the following:
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Cost at the beginning of the period       132 14,050
Capital expenditures during the period       2 4,005
Disposals during the period       – (15,484)
Transfers of stabilised property to investment properties      (109) (2,439)

       25 132

Transfers of stabilised property to investment properties relates to certain tenant improvement costs carried out on a property.

3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements continued
3.1 Investment in properties continued
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5 Investment in an associate
In 2008, PEPR had a 30% interest in ProLogis European Properties Fund II (“PEPF II”), a Luxembourg open-end, infinite-life private equity 
fund established by ProLogis in August 2007 with the purpose of investing in modern distribution facilities from ProLogis’ development 
pipeline in Europe and from third-parties. For the year ended 31 December 2008 PEPR recognised €76.8 million as a share of losses 
of PEPF II.

As part of the Management Company’s plan to improve liquidity, PEPR disposed of its investment in PEPF II to eliminate significant capital 
commitments in the future. On 22 December 2008, PEPR sold a 20% share in PEPF II to ProLogis Cayman III Limited and ProLogis 
Cayman IV Limited (wholly-owned subsidiaries of ProLogis) for €43.7 million recognising a net loss on disposal of €137.0 million. As a result 
of this sale in PEPF II, PEPR lost significant influence over the activities of PEPF II.

The remaining investment was classified as investment available for sale as at 31 December 2008 and sold in 2009 (refer to Note 8).

PEPR received the distributions of €1.3 million for the year ended in 31 December 2009 (2008: €15.9 million) from PEPF II.

6 Accounts receivable, net
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Accounts receivable with customers       42,851 55,093
Unbilled recoveries       4,889 7,403
Allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable       (2,522) (3,019)
Other receivables       1,680 620

       46,898  60,097

The ageing analysis of accounts receivable with customers are as follows:
    Total <30 days 30–60 days 60–90 days >90 days 
    €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

31 December 2009    42,851 38,176 2,034 306 2,335
31 December 2008    55,093 51,266 455 99 3,273

The level of accounts receivable with customers varies due to the timing of the issue of invoices and receipt of those monies for the 
succeeding quarter. In particular, in December 2009 the level of accounts receivable is lower than the balances at the end of the previous 
year due to the earlier invoicing of the Q1 rents.

Bad debt provision is as follows (all individually impaired):
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

At 1 January       3,019 1,164
Charge for the period       1,842 3,952
Utilised       (1,823) (1,367)
Unused amounts reversed       (516) (730)

As at 31 December       2,522 3,019

7 Other current assets
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

VAT recoverable       5,035 13,185
Deposits with utility companies       1,820 1,715
Prepaid expenses and other receivables       14,120 14,449
Insurance receivable       717 1,492

       21,692 30,841
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8 Other financial assets, available for sale
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Carrying value at the beginning of the year       48,496 –
Reclassification from investment in an associate (Note 6)      – 79,019
Contributions to PEPF II       – 38,000
Impairment of the investment available for sale       – (68,523)
Disposal       (48,496) –

Carrying value of other financial assets, available for sale      – 48,496

After the disposal of its 20% share in PEPF II in 2008 (refer to Note 5), PEPR held a 10% share in PEPF II as at 31 December 2008. This 
remaining investment has been subject to an impairment provision as of 31 December 2008 to bring its carrying value substantially in line 
with a negotiated selling price at which it was sold on 12 February 2009. As of 31 December 2009 PEPR has no residual interest in and no 
capital commitments towards PEPF II.

9 Cash and cash equivalents
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Restricted cash       30,520 23,973
Unrestricted cash       34,010 53,128

       64,530 77,101

Restricted cash mainly comprises cash which, under the terms of the secured notes, is received under rental agreements and is subject 
to certain restrictions in any one quarter until interest payments under certain debt obligations for that applicable quarter are made. In 
addition, PEPR received restricted proceeds from swap contracts (Note 26) for an amount of €5.76 million.

Under the terms of the secured notes, cash received in respect of the sale of assets which are part of the security for those loan notes, is 
held as collateral until either a new property is substituted for it, or a proportional element of the notes are repaid.

10 Ownership of PEPR
Prior to PEPR’s initial public offering in 2006, ownership was split between Class A(1), Class A(2), Class A(3), Class B1, Class B2, Class C(1) 
and Class C(2) Unitholders. All classes of Units were either redeemed or reclassified into Ordinary Units on 27 September 2006.

The rights of holders of Ordinary Units may be limited in several important ways compared to rights that typically attach to ordinary shares, 
including the following:
i)  the Management Company has the exclusive right to manage PEPR in the exclusive interests of Unitholders and has the sole power to 

table resolutions to the PEPR Board on all but a limited number of decisions, including the sale of distribution facilities;
ii)  the Management Regulations limit when the Management Company can be replaced, other than for cause (see Note 25.3);
iii)  Ordinary Unitholders (including ProLogis and ProLogis Related Parties) have the right to elect four Independent Board Members upon 

proposal by a nomination committee, and the Management Company has the right to appoint two ProLogis Board Members; and
iv)  although the Independent Board Members will represent a majority of the Board, they will have limited rights with respect to the 

management and governance of PEPR.

The Management Regulations define the formula by which the Management Company is contractually obliged to calculate distributable 
cash flow of PEPR and to distribute such amount, if any, to Unitholders each quarter. The PEPR Board has discretion to adjust dividend 
distributions to unitholders to maintain a healthy capital structure. No distributions will be paid to holders of ordinary units unless all 
preferred dividends owed on any preferred units are fully paid.

Holders of Preferred Units, in priority to holders of Ordinary Units, shall receive pro-rata out of distributable cash flow a cumulative cash 
distribution per annum of 10.5% of the issue price (€5.93) quarterly in arrears. Preferred dividends are deferrable, if deemed appropriate by 
the Management Company, with deferred dividends accruing interest at the rate of the preferred return compounded quarterly.
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      31 December 31 December 
      2009 2008 
Number of Units issued      No. of Units No. of Units

Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units      10,298,510 –
Ordinary Units      190,522,441 190,522,441

      31 December 31 December 
      2009 2008 
Par value in issue      €000 €000

Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units      61,070 –
Ordinary Units      1,911,810 1,911,810

Total capital contributions      1,972,880 1,911,810

Calculation of Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per Unit
Ordinary units
The NAV per Ordinary Unit shall be determined by dividing (i) the net assets of PEPR, being the value of assets less liabilities, on any 
Valuation Day (the value of such assets and liabilities to be determined according to the accounting principles of PEPR as outlined in 
Note 2) less the NAV attributable to Convertible preferred units, by (ii) the number of Ordinary Units outstanding, provided that the assets 
attributable to Ordinary Units shall be determined in accordance with the rules applicable to the distribution of Residual Value upon a 
winding-up of PEPR.

Redemption of units
Ordinary and Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units (“Preferred Units”) shall be redeemed by the Management Company in accordance 
with the provisions set out in Articles 8 and 20 of the Management Regulations. In such circumstances, the Management Company has 
the ability to call for the redemption of Units in the manner laid out in the Management Regulations. The price, if there would be such 
redemption of Units, would be the NAV of the Units of the relevant Class on the most recent valuation day prior to redemption.

The Preferred Units may be redeemed by the Management Company by notice on quarters on or after 31 December 2016. The Preferred 
Units may be converted at anytime by unitholders by sending a conversion notice, the conversion ratio shall be one to one. They will 
automatically convert from the seventh anniversary of issue once the trading price of the ordinary units is greater than 130% of the issue 
price of the Preferred Units adjusted as appropriate to take into account any split or reverse split of units.

11 Net retained earnings
      31 December 31 December 
      2009 2008

Loss for the year attributable to ordinary unit holders (€’000)
Basic      (309,551) (576,895)
Diluted      (309,339) (576,895)
Weighted average number of ordinary units issued during the year (units)
Basic      190,522,441 190,522,441
Diluted      190,776,377 190,522,441
Loss per ordinary unit (Euros)
Basic      (1.62) (3.03)
Diluted      (1.62) (3.03)

10 Ownership of PEPR continued
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The distributions have been calculated in accordance with Article 15 of the Management Regulations and are summarised as follows:

        To  
      31 December 31 December 31 December 
      2009 2008 2007 
Class of unit     Total €000 €000 €000

Class A(1) convertible preferred units     158 158 – –
Ordinary     312,495 – 107,649 204,846
Units in issue prior to IPO     656,227 – – 656,227

     968,880 158 107,649 861,073

Accumulated earnings      376,743 686,136 1,263,031
Cumulative distributions      (968,880) (968,722) (861,073)
Net retained earnings      (592,137) (282,586) 401,958
Distributions brought forward      – 41,975 38,134
Distributions for the year      158 107,649 166,713
Distributions paid      – (149,624) (162,872)

Distribution carried forward      158 – 41,975

Distributions per Unit
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
Class of unit       Euro per unit Euro per unit

Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units       0.02 –
Ordinary       – 0.57

In December 2008 the Board of PEPR decided to suspend the dividend distributions to the Ordinary unitholders starting from the fourth 
quarter 2008 as a part of PEPR’s deleveraging strategy.

Capital management
The primary objective of PEPR’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to 
support its business and maximise unitholder value. PEPR manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, PEPR may adjust dividend distributions to Unitholders, issue units or buy 
them back.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the periods ending 31 December 2009 and 2008.

PEPR monitors capital using a loan to value (“LTV”) ratio, which is debt divided by appraised gross property value. Under PEPR’s 
Management Regulations, it may not incur additional indebtedness (whether secured or unsecured) which would cause the LTV ratio to 
exceed 60%. For the purposes of effective cash management, however, PEPR may exceed this limit for temporary or short-term purposes for 
a period not to exceed six months, provided that the LTV ratio does not exceed 65% at any time.

11 Net retained earnings continued
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For this ratio, PEPR includes within debt, secured and unsecured notes and interest bearing bank loans.

       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Interest bearing notes and bank loans, net of current portion      1,157,847 1,735,847
Interest bearing notes and bank loans, current portion       460,853 335,288
Add back: transaction costs capitalised       20,243 22,936

Total debt       1,638,943 2,094,071

Appraised gross property value       2,980,594 3,617,279
Investment available for sale       – 48,496

Total value       2,980,594 3,665,775

Loan to value ratio       55.0% 57.1%

The loan to value ratio does not take into account the amount of cash balances of the business. Taking unrestricted cash of €34.0 million 
(2008: €53.1 million) into account, this ratio would be 53.8% as at 31 December 2009 (2008: 55.7%). PEPR intends to increase the 
headroom on the loan to value limit through deleveraging and refinancing initiatives currently under way (refer to Note 1 and 28).

Under the current financing arrangement PEPR has to comply with certain debt covenants. Some of them are linked to the net retained 
earnings and the leverage ratio.

12 Cash flow hedge valuation reserve
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Balance at the beginning of the period       (9,959) 15,250

Movement in fair value of existing hedges       1,139 (25,209)
Fair value of hedges terminated during the period       3,133 –

Net variation during the period       4,272 (25,209)

Balance at the end of the period       (5,687) (9,959)

11 Net retained earnings continued
Capital management continued
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13 Interest bearing notes and borrowings

     31 December 31 December 
   Interest  2009 2008 
 Maturity Currency rate  €000 €000

Unsecured notes
EuroBonds Oct 2014 EUR Fixed according to rating,  495,750 500,000 
    5.875% to 7.625%    

     495,750 500,000
Secured notes
Pan European Industrial Jul 2009 EUR Three month Euribor +  – 335,872 
 Properties Series II S.A.    0.32% to 0.90%   
Pan European Industrial May 2010 EUR Three month Euribor +  24,240 174,418 
 Properties Series III S.A.    0.35% to 0.85%   
Pan European Industrial May 2010 EUR Three month Euribor +  66,350 373,845 
 Properties Series IV S.A.    0.14% to 0.30%   

     90,590 884,135
Unsecured credit facility
Revolving loans Dec 2010 EUR One month Euribor +  73,000 – 
    2.65% (incl. facility fee)   
Tranche I loans Dec 2010 EUR One month Euribor + 2.65%  300,000 300,000
Tranche II loans Dec 2012 EUR One month Euribor + 2.70%  129,000 129,000
Tranche II loans Dec 2012 GBP One month Euribor + 2.70%  138,772 129,877

     640,772 558,877
Secured bank loans
Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG Mar 2013 EUR Three month Euribor + 2.50%  126,000 151,059
Eurohypo AG Jul 2013 GBP Three month Libor + 2.50%  96,798 –
Heleba Oct 2014 EUR Three month Euribor + 2.44%  15,500 –
Heleba Oct 2014 SEK Three month Stibor + 2.88%  31,616 –
Crédit Agricole CIB Mar 2013 GBP Three month Libor + 2.50%  48,317 –
Heleba Jan 2013 EUR Three month Euribor + 2.10%  45,300 –
Berlin Hyp Jan 2014 EUR Three month Euribor + 1.67%  48,300 –

       411,831 151,059

Total proceeds from notes and borrowings       1,638,943 2,094,071
Less transaction costs       (20,243) (22,936)

Total notes and borrowings       1,618,700 2,071,135
Less current portion       (460,853) (335,288)
Total long-term notes and borrowings       1,157,847 1,735,847

Unsecured notes
On 23 October 2007, ProLogis International Funding S.A., a finance subsidiary of PEPR issued €500.0 million 5.875% Eurobonds maturing 
on 23 October 2014 which are guaranteed by PEPR. The interest payable on the Eurobonds increases, or decreases if previously increased, 
depending upon a rating change of the unsecured debt. Following the rating downgrade by Moody’s below Baa3 in June 2009, the interest 
rate has increased by 1.75% per annum to 7.625% as of 23 October 2009. If there is a subsequent rating increase to Baa3 or above, the 
interest rate will revert to 5.875%. The interest rate is set annually.

The Eurobonds are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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Secured notes
In 2003 and 2005 Euro secured floating rate notes have been issued by certain SPEs as listed in the table, which although not owned by 
PEPR are consolidated according to PEPR’s accounting principles (Note 2.1). The SPEs have each made an issue of notes at 100% of their 
face value and bear interest at a floating rate linked to Euribor, paid quarterly. The following summarises the tranches and interest rates by 
class of notes:

     Class A Class B Class C Total

Pan European Industrial Properties Series II
 31 December 2009, €000     – – – –
 31 December 2008, €000     €265,372 €30,750 €39,750 €335,872
 Interest rate: three month Euribor +     0.32% 0.48% 0.90%

Pan European Industrial Properties Series III
 31 December 2009, €000     €1,652 €9,802 €12,786 €24,240
 31 December 2008, €000     €134,668 €17,250 €22,500 €174,418
 Interest rate: three month Euribor +     0.35% 0.48% 0.85%

Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV
 31 December 2009, €000     €17,194 €29,156 €20,000 €66,350
 31 December 2008, €000     €321,845 €32,000 €20,000 €373,845
 Interest rate: three month Euribor +     0.14% 0.18% 0.30%

The notes are listed on the London Stock Exchange and secured on the assets of the respective borrower and its direct and indirect 
subsidiaries. The notes must be redeemed in full, on or before their maturity date. The notes may be repaid earlier, in full or in part subject 
to certain conditions.

In April 2009, PEPR repaid debt of €335.9 million under Pan European Industrial Properties Series II, three months earlier than 
contractually required. The repayment was funded using a combination of cash from operations and available capacity under its unsecured 
credit facility.

In August and November 2009 PEPR prepaid an aggregate of €457.7 million of the debt under Pan European Industrial Properties Series III 
and IV, funded through a combination of asset disposals, cash flow from operations, cash inflows from the unwinding of related derivatives, 
available capacity under its unsecured credit facility and new secured bank loans.

Unsecured credit facility
On 11 December 2007, PEPR entered into an unsecured senior credit facility with a syndicate of 19 banks led by Banc of America 
Securities LLC and ABN Amro Bank, N.A. providing for loans of up to €900.0 million. As at 31 December 2009, €640.8 million had been 
advanced and the balance of €227.0 million was available to be drawn down subject to such additional drawing not resulting in any 
breaches of, amongst other things, the financial covenants.

Amounts drawn down under the facility are identified as Tranche I, Tranche II or revolving loans. Tranche II loans of €129.0 million and 
£123.5 million are in the form of term loans with a final maturity date of 11 December 2012. Tranche I loans (€300 million) were term loans, 
with a final maturity of 13 December 2010 but have been fully repaid on 29 January 2010 (see subsequent events note). Revolving Loans 
are revolving in nature and can be redrawn, though have a final repayment date of 13 December 2010.

The rate on this facility prior to 2 November 2008 was Euribor + 65/70bps, due to a downgrade of PEPR’s credit rating these rates changed 
to Euribor + 75/80bps on 3 November 2008. The management renegotiated some of the terms to the agreement on 30 December 2008, 
as part of this renegotiation the rate changed to Euribor + 220/225 bps. In April 2009 the rates changed to + 240/245bps due to PEPR’s 
credit rating being downgraded to Baa3. On 19 June 2009, PEPR’s credit rating was further downgraded to Ba1 which resulted in a further 
increase in rates to Euribor + 265/270bps. The revolving credit facility had rate changes due to the above downgrades to + 240bps from 
April, and + 265bps from June, incl. facility fee.

Secured bank loans
DeutschePfandbriefbank AG (formerly, Hypo Real Estate Bank International)
In February 2004 a secured credit facility of €151.1 million was provided by Hypo Real Estate Bank International (now Deutsche 
Pfandbrief AG) and secured on the assets of certain subsidiaries located in Poland, Hungary and Czech Republic.

13 Interest bearing notes and borrowings continued
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On 2 July 2009, PEPR extended the loan agreement with Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG, from original expiry of March 2010 to March 2013. 
The loan amount has been reduced to €126.0 million (for which the interest rate margin increased to 2.5%), the differential of €25.1 million 
of principal amount having been repaid on 5 August 2009.

On 22 December 2009, certain wholly owned subsidiaries of PEPR entered into a €74.5 million loan, of which €66.9 million has been 
received and a further €7.6 million committed, with Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG. The €66.9 million tranche was received in January 2010 
and is secured by a portfolio of nine French and UK assets. The loan will mature in December 2013.

EuroHypo Senior Secured Finance Facility
On 17 July 2009, certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of PEPR entered into a senior secured finance facility with Eurohypo AG, London branch 
to provide a four-year term loan facility. Funding of GBP 86.1 million was received on 24 July 2009, maturing in July 2013. The purpose of 
the facility is to finance a portfolio of 15 properties owned by the subsidiaries. As security for the obligations under the facility agreement, the 
subsidiaries have granted certain security, including first legal mortgages over the properties and charges over the shares of each subsidiary 
that is an asset owning.

Helaba Secured Facility (Sweden)
The agreement concluded in October 2009 with a single lender for a new €47.4 million (€15.5 million and SEK 332.5 million) bank loan 
facility, secured by four distribution facilities in Sweden, maturing in October 2014.

Helaba Secured Facility (the Netherlands)
On 2 December 2009, certain wholly owned subsidiaries of PEPR entered into a €45.3 million, secured loan with Helaba (Landesbank 
Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale). Funding of €45.3 million was received on 8 December 2009. The loan is secured by a portfolio of six 
assets located in the Netherlands, maturing in January 2013 and under certain conditions extendable up to January 2015.

Crédit Agricole CIB Syndicated Secured Facility
On 4 December 2009, ProLogis European Finance XVI S.à r.l., in its capacity as the borrower and certain other wholly owned subsidiaries of 
PEPR, entered into a credit facility with Calyon, as arranger, original lenders being Crédit Agricole CIB. Funding of £43.0 million was received 
in December 2009. The loan is secured by a portfolio of 10 UK assets, maturing in March 2013.

Berlin Hyp Secured Facility
On 17 December 2009, certain subsidiaries of PEPR entered into a €74.0 million secured loan with Berlin-Hannoversche Hypothekenbank 
AG. Funding of €48.3 million was received in December 2009; the balance of €25.7 million was received in January 2010. The loan is 
secured by a portfolio of 17 German and Polish assets, maturing in January 2014.

Pan-European Syndicated Loan
On 22 December 2009, certain wholly owned subsidiaries of PEPR entered into a €300 million pan-European syndicated loan with six 
European lenders arranged by Goldman Sachs as sole arranger. The syndicate includes Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG (as facility and 
security agent), AXA, BAWAG P.S.K., Credit Foncier de France, M&G Investments and ING Real Estate Finance. The loan is secured by a 
portfolio of 39 properties located in France, Spain, Italy and Belgium. Funding of €300 million has been received in January 2010. The loan 
has interest rate of Euribor+2.77% and will mature in January 2014.

Summary of maturities of notes and borrowings (excluding transaction costs):

 31 December 2009 
|||||||

 31 December 2008

   <1 year 1–5 years >5 years <1 year 1–5 years >5 years 
   €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Unsecured notes   – 495,750 – – – 500,000
Secured notes   90,590 – – 335,872 548,263 –
Unsecured credit facility   373,000 267,772 – – 558,877 –
Secured bank loans   1,425 410,406 – – 151,059 –

   465,015 1,173,928 – 335,872 1,258,199 500,000

13 Interest bearing notes and borrowings continued
Secured bank loans continued
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Summary of drawn and available debt facilities (excluding transaction costs):

 31 December 2009 
|||||||||||||
 31 December 2008

   Total Drawn Available Total Drawn Available 
   €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Unsecured notes   495,750 495,750 – 500,000 500,000 –
Secured notes   90,590 90,590 – 884,135 884,135 –
Unsecured credit facility   900,000 640,772 227,000 900,000 558,877 300,000
Secured bank loans   437,531 411,831 25,700 151,059 151,059 –

   1,898,171 1,638,943 259,228 2,435,194 2,094,071 300,000

Subsequently the €300 million revolving credit facility has been reduced to €100 million on 12 February 2010 (see Note 28).

Summary of the pledged assets and their values for the secured notes and loans:

       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Secured notes: investment properties       208,085 1,516,413
Secured bank loans: investment properties       872,277 281,400

       1,080,362 1,797,813

14 Taxation
PEPR is an unincorporated contractual co-ownership scheme governed by Part II of the law on Undertakings for Collective Investments of 
20 December 2002.

According to legislation currently in force, PEPR is not subject to corporate income or capital gains taxes in Luxembourg. It is, however, 
liable to an annual subscription tax based upon the Ordinary Units in issue. This tax is 0.05% per annum on the net assets attributable to 
unitholders. The tax, payable quarterly, is assessed on the last day of each quarter.

Real estate revenues, or capital gains derived from real estate, may be subject to taxes by assessment, withholding or otherwise in the 
countries where the real estate is situated.

PEPR’s subsidiaries depreciate their historical property cost in accordance with applicable tax regulations. Depreciation is deducted from 
taxable profits in determining current taxable income.

Deferred tax liabilities are calculated according to the full liability method, and mainly arise on timing differences generated by fair value 
adjustments occurring post acquisition in the case where an acquisition does not qualify as a business combination. In the case of 
acquisitions which are classified as business combinations deferred tax is recognised on the timing differences between the carrying value of 
real estate investments in these consolidated financial statements and the respective tax basis at the date of acquisition, and is subsequently 
remeasured in each period.

Deferred tax liability has not been accrued in respect of unremitted profits contained in direct and indirect subsidiaries and associates of 
PEPR as it is unlikely that these profits will be remitted to the parent in a manner which will attract income tax.

13 Interest bearing notes and borrowings continued
Secured bank loans continued
Pan-European Syndicated Loan continued
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       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Deferred tax liability
Opening balance       112,421 190,362

Effect of revaluations of properties to fair value post acquisition      (78,313) (74,629)
Deferred tax on properties disposed of       (5,708) 42
Deferred tax liabilities acquired as part of business combinations      – (3,354)

Movements on deferred tax liability       (84,021) (77,941)

Closing balance       28,400 112,421

Made up of:
Deferred tax liabilities acquired as part of business combinations related to the  
difference in the tax base on carrying value of investment properties acquired    – 3,170
Revaluation of investment properties to fair value       28,400 109,251

Total deferred tax liabilities       28,400 112,421

       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Long-term tax asset mainly relating to tax losses carried forward
Opening balance       5,625 7,740

Relating to tax losses carried forward       4,756 (2,115)

Total deferred tax assets       10,381 5,625

Income and other current taxes payable
Balance brought forward       16,449 17,570
Tax expense       30,804 23,606
Tax paid       (24,408) (24,727)

Closing balance       22,845 16,449

Tax expense
Current income tax expense:
Income taxes       29,428 20,830
Other taxes       735 2,060
Subscription taxes       641 716

       30,804 23,606
Deferred tax benefit:
Arising from liabilities       (78,313) (74,629)
Arising from properties disposed of       (5,708) 42
Arising from assets       (4,756) 2,115

       (88,777) (72,472)

Benefit for taxation reported in the consolidated income statement     (57,973) (48,866)

As of 31 December 2009 the unrecognised portion of deferred tax assets related to property fair value movements was €70.4 million (2008: 
€34.5 million).

14 Taxation continued
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Reconciliation between consolidated tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by domestic tax rates for the period ended 
31 December 2009 and 2008 is as follows:

       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Accounting loss before income tax       (368,592) (626,784)
Tax exempt income/expense:
Property fair value movement       445,778 483,718
Result on disposal of investment properties       59,640 –
Gain or loss from investments       (1,270)  282,405
Fund expenses       14,084  12,314
Additional losses       92,616 25,287

       610,848 803,724
Tax deductible expenses:
Tax depreciation       (66,433) (67,637)
Interest and others       (54,712) (39,057)

       (121,145) (106,694)
Taxable profit       121,111 70,245

Charge for taxation at effective rate of 24.29% (2008: 26.10%)      29,428  18,332
Adjustment to the income tax charge of previous years       (457)  2,498
Others taxes       1,192  2,060
Subscription tax       641  716

Current income tax expense       30,804 23,606

15 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Accrued construction costs       2,692 4,768
Security deposits       9,949 9,519
Legal fee accruals       233 236
Interest payable       11,445 15,166
Other accrued expenses       17,084 14,396
VAT payable       8,300 9,913
Distributions payable       158 –

       49,861 53,998

16 Rental leases
PEPR leases real estate to occupants under operating leases. The terms of the leases are in line with normal practices in each market. 
Leases are reviewed or subject to automatic inflationary adjustments as appropriate. Operating expenses, where applicable, are recharged to 
customers either by way of direct charge or monthly service charges.

Lease payments receivable from non-cancellable leases are shown below. For the purposes of this schedule, it is conservatively assumed 
that a lease expires on the date of its first break option.

       Amount 
       receivable 
       €000 Percentage

Within one year       24,618 3.0%
Between two and five years       376,418 45.5%
Five years and more       427,017 51.5%

       828,053 100%

14 Taxation continued
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17 Other property rental expenses
Property operating result comprises operating expenses net of amounts recoverable from customers and is analysed as follows:

       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Maintenance & utilities       1,981 2,453
Insurance costs       4,040 3,875
Bad debt (Note 6)       1,326 3,222
Property management fees (Note 19.2)       1,889 1,934

       9,236 11,484

PEPR has contracted with the Management Company for the supply of management services. In return the Management Company has 
subcontracted a number of related management companies (wholly owned subsidiaries of ProLogis) to carry out various management 
functions for PEPR (Note 19.2).

18 Profit on disposal of investment property
On 12 May 2009, PEPR sold nine stand alone assets in Germany and in The Netherlands to Curzon Capital Partners II, managed by AEW 
Europe. The portfolio comprised some 229,000 square metres of distribution warehouse space at four locations in Germany (Neumarkt, 
Peine, Soest and Straubing) and three locations in The Netherlands (Bergen op Zoom, Haaften and Rotterdam), with a remaining lease 
length of over six years. The proceeds from the disposal amounted €116.3 million (€115.5 million received and €0.8 million anticipated to 
be received from an escrow account).

On 30 June 2009, PEPR sold five distribution facilities for a net consideration of £63.1 million (€72.8 million) to an affiliate of Harbert 
European Real Estate Fund II L.P. The 79,700 square metre portfolio is situated in various locations throughout the UK, with a remaining 
average lease length of approximately 10 years.

In June 2008, PEPR sold 23,300 square metres of land in Zaandam, north of Amsterdam for a gross consideration of €4.5 million. In July 
2008, PEPR sold Zibido DC 1 (near Milan, Italy) for a gross consideration of €6.4 million to Finlema, an Italian manufacturer of personal 
hygiene products. In 2008, PEPR completed the sale of land in Harbor Park (Budapest) for €16.2 million to ProLogis (refer to Note 19.12).

The table below summarises those transactions:

   UK German Dutch  Total Total 
   properties properties properties Other Year 2009 Year 2008

Disposal proceeds   72,751 50,842 65,462 42 189,097 27,609
Carrying value of properties and currency  
 translation effects   (110,157) (55,523) (66,018) (53) (231,751) (26,082)

(Loss)/gain on disposal of investment  
 and development property   (37,406) (4,681) (556) (11) (42,654) 1,527

Recycling of the currency translation effects on disposal from other comprehensive loss to the loss on disposal of UK investment properties 
amounted to a loss of €23.7 million (2008: nil).

19 Transactions with related parties
19.1 Management fees
Since the initial public offering of PEPR, the Management Company is entitled to charge the following management fees:
(i)  a management fee equivalent to 0.60% per annum of the gross property value of the Portfolio, excluding any interest in the real estate 

of any ProLogis Private Equity Funds or ProLogis Joint Ventures;
(ii)  a cash management fee equal to 0.10% per annum of unrestricted balances of cash and cash equivalents; and
(iii)  from 31 December 2008, an incentive fee of 20% of IFRS net income per Unit above a hurdle rate of an annual return of 9% of net 

assets over an average of three years (see Note 19.3).

The management fee is invoiced in four parts, a fund management fee equal to 0.15% and a property management fee equal to 0.45% 
less whatever property management fees and accounting fees already invoiced and paid by PEPR. Amounts unpaid as of 31 December 
2009 are €2.2 million (2008: €2.2 million) for a total cost recognised in the consolidated income statement for 2009 of €19.7 million (2008: 
€24.4 million).
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19.2 Property management fees
The Management Company has entered into investment management agreements with ProLogis Management Services II SAS, ProLogis 
Poland Management II Spzoo, ProLogis Spain Management II SL, ProLogis Czech Management II Sro and ProLogis Hungary Management 
II Kft respectively incorporated under the laws of France, Poland, Spain, the Czech Republic and Hungary (the “Investment Managers”). 
Under the terms of these agreements, the Investment Managers carry out property management functions on behalf of PEPR. Fees paid to 
local non related investment managers are deducted from the base management fee paid to the Management Company.

19.3 Fund incentive fee
As per the Management Regulations, PEPR is obliged to pay a fund incentive fee to the Investment Manager based on the performance 
of PEPR in excess of a certain benchmark over certain periods of time. The Fund incentive fee is calculated on a rolling three year basis, 
with the first computation period from IPO to 31 December 2008 and annually thereafter. The incentive fee becomes payable if PEPR’s 
IFRS earnings per unit for the year exceeds a hurdle rate of 9% of the opening IFRS NAV per unit for that year. Where this is the case, the 
incentive fee payable would be 20% of the excess over the hurdle. The incentive fee, if any, is due for payment in the following year. As of 
31 December 2009 no incentive fee was accrued for or due.

19.4 Leasehold agreements
PEPR has leased real estate to some of the Investment Managers on an arm’s length basis. Rent charged for the period ending 
31 December 2009 amounted to €0.2 million (2008: €0.3 million).

19.5 Development fee
ProLogis entered into a number of contracts with indirect subsidiaries of PEPR to manage, on behalf of those subsidiaries, significant 
redevelopment or extension projects. In return ProLogis receives a development fee of between 3.25% and 12% of the construction cost 
of the project, dependant on project size. These fees are included within the cost basis of real estate investments. Under the terms of 
the Management Regulations, the Board of PEPR are required to annually approve ProLogis development fee rates based upon evidence 
obtained in the respective local markets.

19.6 Insurance
The Management Company has, on behalf of PEPR, entered into an insurance contract with a related party under which the first 
US$1 million of any claim is settled by that related party. The remainder of any claim is met by a syndicate of insurers who are not 
related parties.

19.7 Leasing commissions
Under the terms of the Management Regulations, the Board of PEPR must annually approve the leasing commission rates to be charged by 
ProLogis based upon evidence in the respective local markets. These commissions can only be charged by ProLogis in situations where an 
outside broker is not involved in the lease negotiations.

19.8 Private Equity Fund Investment Agreement
Under the Private Equity Fund Investment Agreement, ProLogis has granted to PEPR the right to participate in offers for subscription of 
equity securities and securities convertible into equity securities by any ProLogis Private Equity Funds or ProLogis Joint Ventures in Europe, 
on the condition that these investments fulfil certain criteria.

19.9 ProLogis European Properties Fund II
In 2009, PEPR received a dividend from PEPF II of €1.3 million (2008: €9.7 million). Unpaid distributions from PEPF II as at 31 December 
2009 were nil (2008: €6.2 million). A 2008 capital commitment of €38 million to PEPF II was settled early in 2009. As this commitment was 
not paid until February 2009, PEPR incurred a €0.4 million interest penalty due to the late payment.

On 12 February 2009, PEPR completed the disposal of the remaining 10% investment and associated future funding obligations in PEPF 
II to six institutional investors for gross proceeds of €14.4 million (net proceeds of €10.5 million). An impairment on the carrying value of 
this investment was made in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 which resulted in the carrying 
value as at that date being equal to the sales price for which the remaining investment was disposed of on 12 February 2009. As a result of 
recording the prior impairment, the net result of the sale recorded in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 
2009 was zero.

19 Transactions with related parties continued
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19.10 Board members compensation
The PEPR Board includes independent members who are also members of the Audit committee. PEPR pays a “one time fee” of €75,000 
upon the appointment of each independent member which is in the form of PEPR units. Each year compensation based on each member’s 
meeting attendance is also made to independent Board members. In addition, a pro-rata annual allocation of €25,000 of PEPR units is 
made to each independent Board member.

       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

One-time allocation of PEPR units upon appointment       75 –
Annual fee based on meetings attended       237 248
Annual allocation of PEPR units       100 100

       412 348

Each allocation of units to the independent Board members has a two year vesting period, after which they vest in full.

The PEPR Board also contains two members appointed by ProLogis. No compensation is paid to ProLogis or to either ProLogis-appointed 
Board members in connection with their Board activities.

19.11 Tax compliance fee
Per the management regulations the Board agreed to compensate ProLogis for tax compliance services. The tax compliance fee is calculated 
based on the number of hours spent in meetings and for the year ended 2009 this has amounted to €0.9 million (2008: 0.4 million).

19.12 Disposals to ProLogis
In 2005, PEPR purchased Harbor Park in Budapest, including 5.7 hectares of surplus land. At that time, ProLogis entered into an 
agreement with PEPR to purchase the land once legal ownership could be separated from the properties acquired. This separation and 
subsequent transfer to ProLogis was finalised in 2008 (see Note 18).

In December 2008, PEPR sold its 20% share in PEPF II to ProLogis for €43.7 million (see Note 5).

19.13 Preferred units issue
In December 2009 ProLogis through certain wholly-owned subsidiaries subscribed for 7,015,856 preferred shares, equating to 68.12% of 
the preferred units issued.

20 Finance income
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Interest income       1,087 5,319
Dividend from other financial assets available for sale (notes 5 and 8)     1,270 –

Total finance income       2,357 5,319

21 Finance expense
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Interest payable brought forward       (15,166) (11,981)
Interest payable carried forward       11,445 15,166
Interest paid       99,894 105,136

Interest expense       96,173 108,321
Amortisation of initial borrowing costs       10,524 6,403

Total interest and amortisation expense       106,697 114,724

Unrealised change in value of fair value hedges       10,140 (62,267)
Other net unrealised foreign currency effects on monetary assets and liabilities    (9,189) 64,267
Cumulative realised losses       141 (600)

Net foreign currency losses on monetary assets and liabilities      1,092 1,400

Total finance expenses       107,789 116,124

19 Transactions with related parties continued
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22 Other fund expenses

       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
       €000 €000

Professional fees       3,819 4,660
Marketing and advertising       44 62
Other expenses       1,932 1,343
Expenses incurred in relation to meetings to change the legal status to SICAV /F    3,276 –

       9,071 6,065

23 Auditors remuneration
The fee for professional audit services provided by auditors of PEPR and its subsidiaries were €0.49 million in 2009 (2008: €0.51 million). 
The non-recurring remuneration to the auditors for services other than audit was €0.64 million in 2009 (2008: €0.03 million).

24 Net cash flow from operating activities
       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
      Notes €000 €000

Loss before tax       (368,592) (626,784)

Adjustments for non cash items:
Reversal of rent levelling adjustment       (387) 1,971
Reversal of interest expense      21 96,173 108,321
Amortisation of transaction costs relating to debt      21 10,524 6,403
Unrealised change in value of fair value hedges      21 10,140 (62,267)
Other net unrealised foreign currency losses      21 (9,189) 64,267
Net unrealised loss on the investment in real estate       445,777 483,718
Realised loss/(gain) on sale of investment property       42,654 (844)
Realised gain on sale of development property       – (683)
Share of loss of an associate       – 76,834
Loss on disposal of investment in an associate       – 137,048
Impairment of other financial assets, available for sale       – 68,523
Dividend from other financial assets available for sale      20 (1,270) –
Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable       13,199 (15,564)
Decrease/(increase) in other assets       9,148 19,059
Decrease/(increase) in accounts payable       2,429 (7,188)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to related parties       3,708 (6,419)
(Decrease)/increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (12,540) (18,005)
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income       (1,635) 16,423
Payment of income tax      14 (24,408) (24,727)
Payment of interest      21 (99,894) (105,136)

Net cash generated by operating activities       115,837 114,950

25 Contingencies and commitments
Contingencies:
PEPR, through its direct and indirect subsidiaries, is contingently liable with respect to lawsuits and other matters that arise in the normal 
course of business. The Management Company is of the opinion that while it is impossible to accurately ascertain the ultimate legal and 
financial liability with respect to these contingencies, the ultimate outcome of these contingencies is not anticipated to have a material effect 
on PEPR’s financial position and operations.

Commitments:
There are no material commitments for capital improvements and construction contracts at the end of 2009 (2008: €0 million). Following 
the sale of the remaining portion of share in PEPF II in February 2009 (refer to Note 8), PEPR has no further capital commitments to PEPF II 
(2008: €174 million).
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26 Financial risk management objectives and policies
26.1 Investment in property risk
Investment in property is subject to varying degrees of risk. The main factors which affect the value of the investment in property include but 
are not limited to:
i) changes in general economic climate;
ii)  local conditions, such as an oversupply of distribution space or a reduction in demand for distribution space in an area;
iii)  the relative attractiveness of PEPR’s distribution facilities to potential customers;
iv)  government regulations, including zoning, usage, environmental and tax laws; and
v)  competition from other available Distribution Facilities, including those owned by, and under management of, affiliates of the 

Management Company and ProLogis and ProLogis related parties;
vi) PEPR’s ability to provide adequate maintenance of, and insurance on, the Distribution Facilities;
vii)  PEPR’s ability to achieve optimal rental growth and control operating costs, including energy costs;
viii)  governmental regulations, including zoning, usage and tax laws, and costs or operational limitations resulting from changes in these laws;
ix)  potential liability under, and changes in, environmental, zoning and other laws;
x) greater uncertainty of market values given recent market stagnation and volatility of property prices; and
xi)  the relative illiquidity of real estate investments compared with other types of assets, which may affect PEPR’s ability to react promptly to 

changes in economic or other conditions.

The above factors may affect PEPR’s results of operations, net cash flow and the market price and NAV per Unit.

26.2 Market risks
i)  PEPR faces competition in each of its markets due to significant resources available to competitors which can cause a reduction in rental 

income and negatively impact PEPR’s results of operations, distributable cash flow and the Net Asset Value of Ordinary Units;
ii)  PEPR no longer has direct access to the ProLogis development pipeline through either the SPCA or the PCA and will rely instead for the 

majority of its potential external growth through investments in ProLogis Private Equity Funds and ProLogis Joint Ventures in Europe, both 
of which provide indirect access to the ProLogis development pipeline. The first of these vehicles, ProLogis European Properties Fund II 
(“PEPF II”), was established by ProLogis in August 2007 and at the time PEPR committed to invest €900 million by August 2010 for a 30% 
stake in the fund. In December 2008 and February 2009, however, PEPR disposed of its investment to PEPF II (refer to Notes 5 and 8).

iii)  PEPR’s investments are concentrated in the industrial logistics sector and therefore its business would be adversely affected by an 
economic downturn in that sector. As at 31 December 2009, 55.08% of PEPR’s customers (as measured by annualised rental income) 
were third party logistics companies, 14.43% were retailers, 14.71% were manufacturers and 15.78% were others;

iv)  Operating results and distributable cash flow are dependent on the continued generation of lease revenues from customers and may 
adversely affect PEPR in an event of an economic downturn in these customers’ businesses, or by these customers failing to make rental 
payments that might reduce cash flow to PEPR from the lease;

v)  PEPR’s business may be adversely affected if it is unable to renew leases or re-lease space on favourable terms as leases expire;
vi)  Increased maintenance and redevelopment costs could negatively affect PEPR’s results of operations as the average age of the properties 

in the portfolio increases over time;
vii)  Property valuations are inherently subjective and uncertain with no assurance that the valuations would reflect actual sales prices. The 

absence of comparable market transactions in a stagnant investment market increases the reliance on valuers’ judgement; and
viii)  PEPR’s insurance coverage does not cover all potential losses such as acts of war or riots as the Management Company does not feel it 

is economically feasible or prudent to do so. PEPR does have the benefit of insurance coverage, including property, liability, fire, flood, 
earthquake, environmental, terrorism, extended coverage and rental loss as these are items the Management Company considers 
appropriate for the markets where each of PEPR’s distribution facilities are located.

26.3 Specific risks to PEPR
i)  ProLogis may have investment objectives and policies comparable to those of PEPR and may compete with PEPR in particular with 

Distribution Facilities developed or redeveloped by ProLogis;
ii)  Changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations by tax authorities could increase tax liabilities and require changes in PEPR’s structure, 

which could negatively affect its distributable cash flow;
iii)  PEPR is within the scope of the French 3% real estate holding tax, although exempt without any disclosure requirement as an entity listed 

on a regulated market, Euronext Amsterdam, and actively traded on the main compartment of that market. All of PEPR’s 100% direct 
or indirect French subsidiaries also benefit from this automatic exemption under the new French 3% tax rules without any declaratory 
obligations; and

iv)  In the absence of cause, the Management Company cannot be removed and this may adversely affect the market price of PEPR’s Ordinary 
Units. The Management Company can only be removed or replaced (i) without cause, by a vote of 67% of Ordinary Units, on 15 September 
2016 and every fifth year thereafter, or (ii) by a simple majority of Ordinary Units at any time in the event of gross negligence, wilful 
misconduct or fraud and (iii) the failure of ProLogis to observe ownership requirements as set out in the Management Regulations.



ProLogis European Properties Annual Report & Accounts 200970

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2009
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

26.4 Risk diversification rules and borrowing restrictions
i)  Pending investment or reinvestment of the proceeds from the sale of distribution facilities or distributions, sales and/or redemption 

proceeds of ProLogis private equity funds and ProLogis joint ventures, the cash assets of PEPR will be invested in liquid euro or sterling 
denominated money market instruments, time deposits or debt securities;

ii)  In relation to the above point, PEPR may not invest or hold more than 10% of its net assets in money market instruments, debt securities 
of a single issuer or debt securities that are neither listed nor dealt with on a Regulated Market;

iii)  PEPR will not invest more than 20% of its net asset value, directly or indirectly in a single property or a company, or other investment 
vehicle which is partly owned by PEPR and which PEPR does not control;

iv)  PEPR has (i) the right to subscribe up to 30% of equity securities issued by any ProLogis private equity fund in Europe, and (ii) the right 
to participate in ProLogis joint ventures;

v)  PEPR shall not be required to pay a subscription or placement fee with respect to investments made in the ProLogis private equity funds 
or ProLogis joint ventures;

vi)  PEPR did not enter into or invest in options, futures or other derivative transactions for speculative purposes but may enter into such 
transactions for currency or interest rate hedging;

vii)  PEPR and its consolidated subsidiaries may not incur additional indebtedness which would cause the value of total indebtedness to 
exceed 60% of the aggregate valuation of its investment in property and associates as at the most recent valuation day; and

viii)  For the purpose of effective cash management, PEPR may exceed the indebtedness limit of 60% for temporary or short-term purposes 
for up to six months provided that such total indebtedness shall not exceed 65% of the aggregate valuation of its investment in property 
and associates as at the most recent valuation day.

26.5 Credit risk
PEPR’s earnings, distributable cash flow and its net asset value could be adversely affected if a significant number of its customers are 
unable to meet their lease obligations or credit institutions to meet their obligations under derivatives contracts. Credit risks, or the risk of 
counterparties defaulting, are controlled by the application of credit approvals, limits and monitoring procedures. Where appropriate, PEPR 
obtains collateral in the form of bank deposits and/or bank or parent company guarantees.

To ensure that customers continue to be able to meet their credit terms, the financial viability of customers is kept under review.

PEPR has no significant concentrations of credit risk. PEPR has a large and diverse range of customers and swap counterparties (see Note 
26.10), and thus concentrations of credit risk in any particular geographic location or industry are considered low.

PEPR’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the balance of accounts receivable, as reduced by the effects of any netting 
arrangements with counterparties (e.g. tenant security deposits), and the balance of the hedging instruments receivable disclosed in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

26.6 Interest rate risk
PEPR’s interest rate risk arises from issuing secured notes, obtaining secured and unsecured bank loans. Borrowings at variable rates 
expose PEPR to cash flow interest rate risk. PEPR manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating to fixed interest rate swaps 
(“IRS”). Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rate to fixed rate debt.

To hedge the risk of rising interest rates, PEPR directly or through SPEs has entered into IRS agreements with ABN Amro Bank London 
Branch, JPMorgan Chase Bank, Bank of America N.A., Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG, Eurohypo AG, Heleba, Crédit Agricole S.A. and Berlin-
Hannoversche Hypothekenbank AG (Berlin Hyp) (“swap counterparties”) regulated by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association 
(“ISDA”). Each one of the IRSs exactly matches the critical terms of a corresponding euro tranche of the notes issued: the amount, the 
currency, the maturity, the interest rate and the interest payment dates.

As at 31 December 2009, 60.9% (2008: 66.1%) of PEPR’s debt obligations were effectively at fixed rates taking into account the interest 
rate swap arrangements (with all variable rate debt obligations comprising PEPR’s unsecured credit facility).

26 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interests rates, with all other variables held constant, 
to PEPR’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and other comprehensive income (through the impact of cash 
flow hedges).
        Effect on other  
      Increase/ Effect on profit comprehensive  
      Decrease before tax income 
      in percentage €000 €000

31 December 2009
Euribor      +0.25 1,570 2,293
Sterling Libor      +0.25 347 1,183
Stibor      +0.25 – 331
Euribor      –0.25 (1,570) (2,319)
Sterling Libor      –0.25 (347) (1,195)
Stibor      –0.25 – (335)
31 December 2008
Euribor      +0.25 (1,450) 1,363
Sterling Libor      +0.25 (325) –
Stibor      +0.25 – –
Euribor      –0.25 1,450 (1,367)
Sterling Libor      –0.25 325 –
Stibor      –0.25 – –

At the time PEPR enters into the IRS agreements, these are designated as cash flow hedges. A description of the accounting treatment of 
the cash flow hedges is given in Note 2.12.

A table showing the interest rate swaps and the financial instruments to which they relate is included in Note 26.10.

26.7 Foreign exchange risk
PEPR is subject to fluctuations in currency exchange rates as a consequence of the revenues of its property-owning subsidiaries being 
denominated in currencies other than the Euro. In particular, PEPR has a material interest in Distribution Facilities in the UK resulting in 
Sterling exposure, and it is also exposed to variations in Polish zloty, Czech koruna, Hungarian forint and Swedish krona. The Management 
Company presently does not use, and does not contemplate using, derivative transactions for hedging purposes to mitigate risks resulting from 
fluctuations in currency exchange rates, if any, between the euro and any other national currency of the countries where PEPR’s Distribution 
Facilities are located. As a result, PEPR’s results of operations, balance sheet and net cash flow have been, and could in the future be, affected 
by such fluctuations According to the nature of the asset or liability, this exposure is either recorded against the “Cumulative foreign currency 
translation adjustment” in the other comprehensive income or against “Finance expense” in the consolidated income statement.

PEPR obtains financing in currencies other than Euro (refer to Note 13) and thus exposed to the fluctuations of the exchange rates of those 
currencies.

Under secured notes (“CMBS”) arrangements, SPEs borrow euro denominated debt (notes) and lend predominantly sterling denominated 
debt to other subsidiaries of PEPR to finance property acquisitions. The SPEs have entered into Cross Currency Swaps (“CCSs”) with ABN 
Amro Bank London Branch, JPMorgan Chase Bank and Bank of America N.A. to hedge the risk of fluctuating foreign exchange rates of 
the euro against sterling. Each of the CCSs exactly matches the critical terms of a corresponding sterling tranche of the notes issued: the 
amount, the currency, the maturity, the interest rate and the interest payment dates. At the time the Issuer enters into CCSs, these are 
designated as fair value hedges. A description of the accounting treatment of the fair value hedges is given in Note 2.14.

A table showing the cross currency swaps and the financial instruments to which they relate is included in Note 26.10.
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(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the sterling and other foreign currency (Swedish krone, 
Polish zloty, Czech koruna, Hungarian forint, US dollar) exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, to PEPR’s profit before tax and 
other comprehensive income (due to the changes in the unhedged portion of the sterling borrowing and other monetary assets and liabilities).

        Effect on other  
      Increase/ Effect on profit comprehensive  
      Decrease before tax income 
      in percentage €000 €000

31 December 2009
Sterling      +10 – 23,562
Other currencies      +10 15 268
Sterling      –10 – (23,562)
Other currencies      –10 (15) (268)
31 December 2008
Sterling      +10 – 49,010
Other currencies      +10 36 629
Sterling      –10 – (49,010)
Other currencies      –10 (36) (629)

26.8 Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through 
appropriate and adequate credit lines and the ability of customers to settle obligations within normal terms of credit.

In order to spread liquidity risk, PEPR has financed its activities through a variety of instruments in the capital markets and with a number 
of banks. The debt maturity profile is managed by spreading the contractual repayments dates. As of 31 December 2009, 28.2% of PEPR’s 
outstanding debt (2008: 16%) was due to be repaid within the following 12 months, based on the carrying value of borrowings reflected in 
the consolidated financial statements.

PEPR ensures, through the forecasting and budgeting of cash needs, that it maintains sufficient short-term liquidity to meet its immediate 
payment requirements. As of 31 December 2009, PEPR had €227 million (2008: €300 million) in undrawn capacity under its existing 
credit facilities.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of PEPR’s total debt as at 31 December 2009 based on contractual undiscounted payments 
(refer to Note 26.9 for an analysis of the financial derivatives).

  On < 6 6 to 12 13 to 24 3 to 5 > 5 
  Demand months months months years years Total 
  €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

31 December 2009
Loans outstanding  – 91,303 373,712 1,425 1,172,503 – 1,638,943
Interest payable  11,445 42,417 36,407 71,724 158,258 – 320,251
31 December 2008
Loans outstanding  – 335,872 – 999,323 258,876 500,000 2,094,071
Interest payable  15,166 44,158 44,781 83,334 242,353 88,897 518,689

In February 2010, PEPR partially repaid CMBS debt of €17 million (Note 25). The remaining CMBS debt will be repaid in the first half of 
2010. In January 2010, PEPR received €300 million under the pan-European syndicated loan (refer to Notes 13 and 28), and €25.7 million 
from a second tranche of Berlin Hyp financing with proceeds from both used to repay debt. This coupled with operating cash flow and the 
continued suspension of dividends will allow PEPR to fulfil all of its remaining commitments for debt maturities in 2010.

26.9 Interest rate and fair value
The following table sets out the carrying value (before deduction of unamortised transaction costs) and fair value by maturity of PEPR’s 
financial instruments which are exposed to interest rate risk.
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Instruments at floating rate, i.e. which have an interest rate set at regular intervals of three months or less, have a fair value equivalent to 
the carrying value. Instruments which are at fixed rate have a fair value calculated as the present value of payments to be made under the 
loan agreement.

     <1 year 1–5 years >5 years Total 
Year ended 31 December 2009     €000 €000 €000 €000

Fixed rate
Obligations under Eurobonds:    
Carrying value     – (495,750) – (495,750)
Fair value     – (463,526) – (463,526)
Floating rate
Cash and cash equivalents     64,530 – – 64,530
Secured bank loans     (1,425) (410,406) – (411,831)
Unsecured bank loans     (373,000) (267,772) – (640,772)
Secured notes     (90,590) – – (90,590)
Interest rate swaps     (1,152) (4,826) – (5,978)
Cross currency swaps     (335) – – (335)

     <1 year 1–5 years >5 years Total 
Year ended 31 December 2008     €000 €000 €000 €000

Fixed rate
Obligations under Eurobonds:
Carrying value      –  – (500,000) (500,000)
Fair value      –  – (197,400) (197,400)

Floating rate
Cash and cash equivalents     77,101 – – 77,101
Secured bank loans     – (151,059) – (151,059)
Unsecured bank loans      – (558,877) – (558,877)
Secured notes     (335,872) (548,263) – (884,135)
Interest rate swaps     (3,132) (6,803) – (9,935)
Cross currency swaps     50,754 42,931 – 93,685

Interest on floating rate financial instruments is reset at intervals of less than one year. Interest on financial instruments classified as fixed 
rate is fixed until maturity of the instrument. The other financial instruments of PEPR not included in the above tables are non-interest 
bearing, but given their short-term nature are not subject to interest rate risk.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table shows an analysis of the fair values of financial instruments recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
by level of fair value hierarchy.

     Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
     €000 €000 €000 €000

31 December 2009
Interest rate swaps     –  (5,978) – (5,978)
Cross currency swaps      –  (335)  – (335)
31 December 2008
Interest rate swaps     –  (9,935) – (9,935)
Cross currency swaps     –  93,685 – 93,685
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26.10 Swaps agreements

       Pan European Industrial 
Issuer:       Properties Series III S.A.

Starting date       February 2003
Legal maturity date       May 2013
Settlement date       May 2010
Interest payment       Quarterly

Swap counter-party: ABN AMRO Class A Class B Class C

Cash flows hedged:  €1,652 €4,901 €6,393
Pays floating interest Three-month Euribor + 0.35% 0.48% 0.85%
Receives fixed interest      4.23% 4.36% 4.73%

Swap counter-party: JP Morgan Chase Class A Class B Class C

Cash flows hedged:  – €4,901 €6,393
Pays floating interest Three-month Euribor + 0.35% 0.48% 0.85%
Receives fixed interest      4.23% 4.36% 4.73%

       Pan European Industrial 
Issuer:       Properties Series IV S.A.

Starting date       March 2005
Legal maturity date       May 2013
Settlement date       May 2010
Interest payment       Quarterly

Swap counter-party: ABN AMRO Class A Class B Class C

Cash flows hedged:  – €10,607 €8,407
Pays floating interest Three-month Euribor + 0.14% 0.18% 0.30%
Receives fixed interest  3.29% 3.33% 3.45%
Cash flow hedged (£’000):  £5,942 £1,762 £1,101
Pays floating interest Three-month Euribor + 0.14% 0.18% 0.30%
Receives fixed interest      5.09% 5.13% 5.26%

Swap counter-party: Bank of America Class A Class B Class C

Cash flows hedged:  – €13,451 €8,407
Pays floating interest Three-month Euribor + 0.14% 0.18% 0.30%
Receives fixed interest  3.29% 3.33% 3.45%
Cash flow hedged (£’000):  £5,942 £1,762 £1,101
Pays floating interest Three-month Euribor + 0.14% 0.18% 0.30%
Receives fixed interest      5.09% 5.13% 5.26%

In 2009 PEPR entered into equal and opposite currency forward agreements to lock in the fair value of the currency part of the cross-
currency swaps. The following table summarises the key terms of the original cross-currency swaps and the new currency forwards.

     Notional 
Exchange rate fixed

 
   Starting Maturity amount 
Counter-party   date date (£’000) PUT (£) CALL (£)

ABN AMRO   March-05 May-10 £8,805 0.6912 –
Bank of America   March-05 May-10 £8,805 0.6912 –
Citibank   June-09 May-10 £17,610 – 0.8622
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       ProLogis Central 
Borrower:       European Finance S.L.

Starting date       August 2009
Settlement date       March 2013
Interest payment       Quarterly

Swap counter-party:        Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG

Cash flows hedged    €126,000
Pays floating interest Three-month Euribor +   2.50%
Receives fixed interest        4.99%

Borrower:      ProLogis European Finance XIII S.à r.l.

Starting date        July 2009
Settlement date        July 2013
Interest payment        Quarterly

Swap counter-party:         Eurohypo AG

Cash flows hedged (£’000)    £86,145
Pays floating interest Three-month Libor +   2.50%
Receives fixed interest        5.93%

   ProLogis Sweden I AB, ProLogis Sweden Norrköping AB, 
Borrowers:   ProLogis Sweden Gothenburg AB, ProLogis Sweden Örebro AB

Starting date       October 2009
Settlement date       October 2014
Interest payment        Quarterly

Swap counter-party:         Heleba

Cash flows hedged SEK’000 SEK 330,880
 €’000 €15,417
Pays floating interest SEK tranche: three-month Stibor + 2.88%
 € tranche: three-month Euribor + 2.44%
Receives fixed interest SEK tranche: 5.93%
 € tranche: 5.19%

 ProLogis Realty I B.V., ProLogis Netherlands II S.à r.l., ProLogis Netherlands XVII S.à r.l., 
Borrowers: ProLogis Netherlands XXII S.à r.l., ProLogis Netherlands XX S.à r.l. and ProLogis Netherlands XIX S.à r.l.

Starting date       December 2009
Settlement date       January 2013
Interest payment        Quarterly

Swap counter-party:        Heleba

Cash flows hedged    €45,300
Pays floating interest Three-month Euribor +   2.10%
Receives fixed interest        4.34%
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       ProLogis European 
Borrower:       Finance XVI S.à r.l.

Starting date       December 2009
Settlement date       March 2013
Interest payment        Quarterly

Swap counter-party:       Crédit Agricole CIB

Cash flows hedged (£’000)    £43,000
Pays floating interest Three-month Libor +   2.50%
Receives fixed interest         5.04%

 ProLogis Germany XIX BV, ProLogis Germany XII BV, ProLogis Germany XVII BV, 
 ProLogis Germany XXII BV, ProLogis Germany XV BV, ProLogis Germany XXV BV, 
 ProLogis Germany XXXI BV, ProLogis Germany XXXVI BV, ProLogis Germany XLI BV, 
 ProLogis Germany XXXV BV, ProLogis Germany XLVI BV, ProLogis Poland XVI Spzoo, 
 ProLogis Poland XLVIII Spzoo, ProLogis Poland XXXIV Spzoo, ProLogis Poland XXII Spzoo, 
Borrowers: ProLogis Poland XXVIII Spzoo, ProLogis Poland XIX Spzoo

Starting date       December 2009
Settlement date       January 2014
Interest payment        Quarterly

Swap counter-party:       Landesbank Berlin AG

Cash flows hedged    €48,300
Pays floating interest Three-month Euribor +   1.67%
Receives fixed interest        3.95%

Movements in hedge values are:

       31 December 31 December 
       2009 2008 
      Notes €000 €000

Balance at the beginning of the period       83,750 46,692
Movement in fair value of interest rate swap hedges      12 1,139 (25,209)
Movement in fair value of cross currency swap hedges      21 (10,140) 62,267
Fair value of hedges terminated during the period       (75,302) –

Net variation during the period       (84,303) 37,058

Balance at the end of the period       (553) 83,750

Hedging instruments – positive hedge values       – 90,259
Restricted cash – positive hedge values      9 5,760 –
Hedging instruments, long-term – negative hedge values      (4,826) (6,509)
Hedging instruments, short-term – negative hedge values      (1,487) –

       (553) 83,750
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27 List of consolidated entities
Companies Incorporated in Luxembourg
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis European Holdings S.à r.l. ProLogis France XVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings II S.à r.l. ProLogis France XVIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings IV S.à r.l. ProLogis France XX S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings VI S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXI S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings VII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings VIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings IX S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XV S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XVI S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XVII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XVIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXVIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XIX S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXX S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance II S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance IV S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance VI S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance VII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance VIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance IX S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XL S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XV S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLI S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XVI S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XVII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XVIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XIX S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis International Funding S.A. ProLogis France XLVIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium II S.à r.l. ProLogis France LII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium V S.à r.l. ProLogis France LIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium VI S.à r.l. ProLogis France LVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium VIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France CX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Czech Republic S.à r.l. ProLogis France CXVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Czech Republic II S.à r.l. PLD Germany V S.à.r.l.
ProLogis Czech Republic III S.à r.l. ProLogis Germany S.à r.l.
ProLogis Czech Republic IV S.à r.l. ProLogis Germany XIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Czech Republic VII S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy III S.à r.l
ProLogis Czech Republic X S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy V S.à r.l
ProLogis Czech Republic XI S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy IX S.à r.l
ProLogis Czech Republic XII S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy XIV S.à r.l
ProLogis Czech Republic XIII S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy XXV S.à r.l
ProLogis France III S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands S.à r.l.
ProLogis France IV S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands I S.à r.l.
ProLogis France V S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands II S.à r.l.
ProLogis France VI S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands III S.à r.l.
ProLogis France IX S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands V S.à r.l.
ProLogis France X S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands VII S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XI S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands IX S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XIII S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands XI S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XV S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands XIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XVI S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands XV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Netherlands XVII S.à r.l. ProLogis UK II S.à r.l.
ProLogis Netherlands XIX S.à r.l. ProLogis UK III S.à r.l.
ProLogis Netherlands XX S.à r.l. ProLogis UK IV S.à r.l.
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ProLogis Netherlands XXII S.à r.l. ProLogis UK IX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland S.à r.l. ProLogis UK X S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland II S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland III S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland IV S.à r.l ProLogis UK XV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland V S.à r.l ProLogis UK XVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland VI S.à r.l ProLogis UK XVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland VIII S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland X S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XI S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XVI S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXVIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XIII S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XIV S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXXV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XV S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XXXVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XVII S.à r.l ProLogis UK XL S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XIX S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XLI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XX S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XLV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XXII S.à r.l ProLogis UK XLVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XXVIII S.à r.l ProLogis UK XLVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XXIX S.à r.l ProLogis UK LV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XXXIV S.à r.l ProLogis UK LVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XLVIII S.à r.l ProLogis UK LXI S.à r.l.
ProLogis S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain II S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain III S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain IV S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain V S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXXI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain VI S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXXII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain VII S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXXIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain VIII S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XC S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain IX S.à r.l. ProLogis UK CC S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain X S.à r.l. ProLogis UK CCI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain XI S.à r.l. ProLogis UK CCLXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain XII S.à r.l. ProLogis UK CCLXVIII S.à r.l.

Companies Incorporated in the United Kingdom:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

1&2 Buncefield Lane (No.1) Limited ProLogis Apex Park DC 3 (No.1) Limited
1&2 Buncefield Lane (No.2) Limited ProLogis Apex Park DC 3 (No.2) Limited
Interlink Park Management Company Limited (21%) ProLogis Marston Gate Plot 1 (No.1) Limited
ProLogis Corby Limited ProLogis Park Bromford Gate Management Company Limited
ProLogis Grange Park Plot 6 Zone A (No.1) Limited ProLogis Marston Gate Plot 1 (No.2) Limited
ProLogis Grange Park Plot 6 Zone A (No.2) Limited ProLogis Marston Gate Plot 3 (No.1) Limited
ProLogis Grange Park Plot 6 Zone A (No.3) Limited ProLogis Marston Gate Plot 3 (No.2) Limited
ProLogis Grange Park Zone A Unit 4 (1) Limited ProLogis Wakefield Limited
ProLogis Grange Park Zone A Unit 4 (2) Limited ProLogis Wakefield DC 2 (No.1) Limited
ProLogis (Plot 1200 Central Park Rugby No.1) Limited ProLogis Wakefield DC 2 (No.2) Limited
ProLogis (Plot 1200 Central Park Rugby No.2) Limited ProLogis Kettering (No.1) Limited
 ProLogis Keresley Limited
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Companies Incorporated in Jersey:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

The Bermuda Park Unit Trust

Companies Incorporated in Spain:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Spain I SL ProLogis Spain VIII SL
ProLogis Spain II SL ProLogis Spain IX SL
ProLogis Spain III SL ProLogis Spain X SL
ProLogis Spain IV SL ProLogis Spain XI SL
ProLogis Spain V SL ProLogis Spain XII SL
ProLogis Spain VI SL ProLogis Spain XIII SL
ProLogis Spain VII SL ProLogis Central European Finance SL

Companies Incorporated in Italy:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Italy Ia Srl ProLogis Italy VI 2 Srl
ProLogis Italy Ib Srl ProLogis Italy VII Srl
ProLogis Italy Ic Srl ProLogis Italy VIIb Srl
ProLogis Italy Id Srl ProLogis Italy IX Srl
ProLogis Italy II Srl ProLogis Italy IX a Srl
ProLogis Italy VIa Srl ProLogis Italy X Srl
ProLogis Italy VI 1 Srl ProLogis Italy XXV Srl

Companies Incorporated in France:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Angeloir S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXIII Eurl
ProLogis Artoilog S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXIV Eurl
ProLogis Bre Francilienne 2 S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXV Eurl
ProLogis Bre Francilienne Compans S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVI Eurl
ProLogis Bre Francilienne S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVII Eurl
ProLogis Bre Orbium S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVIII Eurl
ProLogis Chesnes Nord ProLogis France XXXIX Eurl
ProLogis France I Eurl ProLogis France XL Eurl
ProLogis France II Eurl ProLogis France XLI Eurl
ProLogis France III Eurl ProLogis France XLIII Eurl
ProLogis France VI Eurl ProLogis France XLIV Eurl
ProLogis France VII Eurl ProLogis France XLV Eurl
ProLogis France VIII Eurl ProLogis France XLVII Eurl
ProLogis France XII Eurl ProLogis France XLVIII Eurl
ProLogis France XIII Eurl ProLogis France XLIX Eurl
ProLogis France XIV Eurl ProLogis France LII Eurl
ProLogis France XV Eurl ProLogis France LIII Eurl
ProLogis France XVII Eurl ProLogis France LVII Eurl
ProLogis France XVIII Eurl ProLogis France II S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XIX Eurl SCI ProLogis Carrefour de l’Europe
ProLogis France XX Eurl SCI ProLogis Copernic
ProLogis France XXI Eurl SCI ProLogis Crépy Paris Nord
ProLogis France XXII Eurl SCI ProLogis d’Ormes
ProLogis France XXIII Eurl SCI ProLogis Le Parc
ProLogis France XXIV Eurl SCI ProLogis Plessis Pate
ProLogis France XXV Eurl SCI ProLogis Plessis Pate 2
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ProLogis France XXVI Eurl SNC ProLogis Aulnay Extension Ouest
ProLogis France XXX Eurl SCI ProLogis Croisée des Autoroutes Lorraines
ProLogis France XXXI Eurl ProLogis Sofinvest Société Financière d’Investissements
ProLogis France CX Eurl

Companies Incorporated in The Netherlands:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

PLD Germany V BV (94.8%) ProLogis Germany XXIX BV (94.4%)
PLD Germany VII BV (94.8%) ProLogis Germany XXXI BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Finance BV ProLogis Germany XXXV BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany II BV (94.4%) ProLogis Germany XXXVI BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany IV BV ProLogis Germany XXXIX BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany XII BV (94.8%) ProLogis Germany XLI BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany XIX BV ProLogis Germany XLIII BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany XV BV (94.8%) ProLogis Germany XLVI BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany XVII BV (94.4%) ProLogis Poland Finance BV
ProLogis Germany XXII BV (94.4%) ProLogis Realty I BV
ProLogis Germany XXIII BV (94.4%) ProLogis Realty II BV
ProLogis Germany XXV BV (94.4%)

Companies Incorporated in Germany:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Deutschland GmbH ProLogis Verwaltung GmbH & Köln Eifeltor KG
ProLogis Verwaltung GmbH

Companies Incorporated in Belgium:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Belgium I Bvba ProLogis Belgium VI Bvba
ProLogis Belgium II Bvba ProLogis Belgium VIII Bvba
ProLogis Belgium V Bvba

Companies Incorporated in Sweden:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Sweden I AB ProLogis Sweden Nörrkoping AB
ProLogis Sweden Gothenburg AB ProLogis Sweden Örebro AB
ProLogis Holding AB

Companies Incorporated in Poland:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Poland I Spzoo ProLogis Poland XVII Spzoo
ProLogis Poland II Spzoo ProLogis Poland XIX Spzoo
ProLogis Poland III Spzoo ProLogis Poland XX Spzoo
ProLogis Poland IV Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXII Spzoo
ProLogis Poland V Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXVIII Spzoo
ProLogis Poland VI Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXIX Spzoo
ProLogis Poland VIII Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXIV Spzoo
ProLogis Poland X Spzoo ProLogis Poland XLVIII Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XI Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXV Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XIII Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXVI Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XIV Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXVII Spzoo

27 List of consolidated entities continued
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ProLogis Poland XV Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXVIII Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XVI Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXIX Spzoo

Companies Incorporated in Czech Republic:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Czech Republic II Sro ProLogis Czech Republic XI Sro
ProLogis Czech Republic III Sro ProLogis Czech Republic XII Sro
ProLogis Czech Republic IV Sro ProLogis Czech Republic XIII Sro
ProLogis Czech Republic VII Sro ProLogis Czech Republic XIV Sro
ProLogis Czech Republic X Sro

Companies Incorporated in Hungary:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Hungary Kft ProLogis Hungary TEN Kft
Harbor Park Ingatlanmukodteto Kft ProLogis Hungary Finance Kft
Harbor Park Ingatlanfejleszto Kft (55.665%) ProLogis Italian Finance Kft
ProLogis Hungary TWO Epitesi es Beruhazasi Kft ProLogis Finance Kft
Wingprojekt 2 Kft
ProLogis Hungary THREE Epitesi es Beruhazasi Kft

Other Special Purpose entities relating to financing Incorporated in Luxembourg and operated by Equity Trust Company 
(Luxembourg) S.A. (46A, Avenue J. F. Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg):
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

Pan-European Industrial Properties Series III S.A Pan-European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.

28 Subsequent events
28.1 Financing
A €300 million pan-European syndicated loan with six European lenders with Goldman Sachs as sole arranger was closed and funded in 
January 2010. The syndicate includes Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG (as Facility and Security Agent), AXA, BAWAG P.S.K., Credit Foncier de 
France, M&G Investments and ING Real Estate Finance. The loan is secured by a portfolio of 39 properties located in four countries and will 
mature in January 2014.

A €74.5 million loan, of which €66.9 million has been received and a further €7.6 million committed, with Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG was 
closed and funded in January 2010. The €66.9 million tranche is secured by a portfolio of nine French and UK assets and will mature in 
December 2013.

A €74.0 million four-year secured loan, split into two tranches, with Berlin Hyp was closed and funded in January 2010. The first tranche 
of €48.3 million was received in December 2009 with the remainder received in January 2010. The loan is secured by a portfolio of 17 
German and Polish assets and will mature in January 2014.

The net proceeds from the above financings were used to repay €373 million of unsecured debt originally due to mature in December 2010. 
Additionally, PEPR reduced the limit on its revolving facility to €100 million from €300 million.

PEPR made a €17 million prepayment under the remaining CMBS facilities in February 2010 as discussed in the note 26.8, and followed 
this by prepaying all outstanding amounts on CMBS facilities in March and April 2010.

28.2 Distributions
PEPR paid a preferred dividend distribution to holders of its Class A(1) convertible preferred units (“Preferred Units”) on 12 February 2010. 
The €0.158 million (€0.015566 per unit) distribution relates to the period from listing, 23 December 2009 to 31 December 2009.

28.3 Moody’s Investors Service rating
In March 2010, Moody’s updated its credit rating outlook on PEPR to stable.

27 List of consolidated entities continued
Companies Incorporated in Poland: continued
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As the pan-European economy continues to be affected 
by the global recession, it is more critical than ever to 
communicate effectively with our stakeholders. In line with 
our commitments for dialogue with unitholders, our 2009 
Annual Report is our most accessible to date, providing three 
levels of communication for a wide range of investors.
ProLogis European Properties explained in...

Contents

01  Summary
03  Delivering our strategy 
04 Knowing our marketplace
06 Applying our key strengths
08 Focusing on clients and service
12 Chairman’s overview
14  Chief executive officer’s review
16 Operations
24 PEPR Management
26 Portfolio overview
27 Lease break and maturity dates
27 Largest 20 customers by annualised rental income
28 Outstanding debt
30 Independent auditor’s report
31 Consolidated statement of financial position
32 Consolidated income statement
33 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
34 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
35 Statement of changes in the number of units issued
36 Consolidated statement of investment in properties
37 Consolidated statement of cash flows
38 Statement of performance measures
39 Notes to the consolidated financial statements

ProLogis European Properties (PEPR)  
is one of the largest pan-European owners 
of high quality distribution and logistics 
facilities. Its portfolio comprises 232 
modern facilities covering 4.9 million 
square metres across 11 countries.  
PEPR was established in 1999 as a 
closed-end, real estate investment fund, 
externally managed by a subsidiary of 
ProLogis (NYSE: PLD), a leading global 
provider of industrial distribution facilities. 
ProLogis European Properties is listed  
on Euronext Amsterdam and the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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www.prologis-ep.com
ProLogis European Properties
34–38, Avenue de la Liberté
L-1930
Luxembourg
T: +352 2620 5740

Investor Relations Headquarters
Bond Street House
14 Clifford Street
London W1S 4JU
United Kingdom
T: +44 207 518 8710

Customer Service Headquarters
Schiphol Boulevard 115
F Tower, Floor 6
Schiphol, Noord Holland
1118 BG
The Netherlands
T: +31 20 655 66 66
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